

A comparative analysis of Waldorf and public sustainability approaches in Norwegian kindergartens

by

Elisabeth Adriana Sele

Faculty of Social Science

University of Stavanger

Spring 2021

UNIVERSITY OF STAVANGER

MASTER DEGREE IN

Energy, Environment and Society

SEMESTER: Spring 2021
AUTHOR: Elisabeth Adriana Sele
SUPERVISOR: Barbara Maria Sageidet
CANDIDATE NUMBER: 4823
MASTER THESIS TITLE: A comparative analysis of Waldorf and public sustainability approaches in Norwegian kindergartens
SUBJECT WORDS/KEY WORDS: Sustainability, kindergarten, Waldorf and public approaches
PAGE: 84
NUMBERS: 25727
STAVANGER
15.06.2021
DATE/YEAR

We do not inherit the earth from our ancestors, we borrow it from our children.

Native American Proverb

FOREWORD

One day I will start my own family, and every parent wants what is best for their unique child in terms of knowledge, values, and further development. Therefore, I wanted to explore where my future children would get the best stimulation to understand the concept of sustainability better and sociocultural issues.

My master thesis is finally complete. It has mostly been a good journey and some rocky periods where my motivation sunk significantly. Therefore, I am forever grateful to my supervisor Barbara for her guidance from start to end. I could not have done this without her honest review, critic, fast response and assistance.

Also, to my soon-to-be husband, parents, and friends throughout the process, I am so grateful for their good moral support, love, and encouragement. Finally, special gratitude to the participants in this study; I have learned a lot from collecting their information and thankful for their contribution.

ABSTRACT

Early childhood education for sustainability (ECEfS) is a central field in our society that is constantly developing. This field is concerned with promoting awareness and guidelines from preschool age toward a sustainable future. The kindergarten is a fundamental part of every society and has the potential to raise responsible individuals. This study has compared and analyzed how Waldorf and public preschool teachers work with sustainability approaches. For this purpose, this research has used several theoretical concepts, the Norwegian kindergarten act, and pedagogical frameworks to understand these issues better. The qualitative method has been used with in-depth interviews of twelve preschool teachers in public and Waldorf kindergartens around the country. The empirical findings in light of methodology coding revealed how these preschool teachers worked with sustainability; (1) Preschool teacher's perception of sustainable development, (2) teaching about sustainability, (3) learning in social contexts, (4) challenges with practicing sustainability. These findings revealed increased socio-cultural differences between the Waldorf and public approaches on how they approached sustainability. It also showed that young children are affected by the environment and their teachers regarding further development of knowledge, attitudes, and personality.

Therefore, this paper emphasizes the importance of teachers' role and perception when promoting pro-environmental behavior and action. Besides, preschool teachers should receive online courses or conferences regularly to increase their knowledge on sustainable practices. Finally, the research of Waldorf sustainability approaches in kindergartens is limited and should be further investigated to enrich the field of Early childhood education for sustainability (ECEfS).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background.	9
1.2. Comparing public kindergartens with Waldorf kindergartens	12
1.3. Significance of this study	13
1.4. Aim and research question.	14
1.5. Disposition.	14
CHAPTER 2: CONTEXTUAL BACKROUND	15
2.1. Brief history of environmental education and its development globally	15
2.2. History of public kindergartens in Norway	17
2.3. History of Waldorf Education	18
2.4 Sustainability in education	19
CHAPTER 3: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	21
3.1. Social-constructionist theory	21
3.2. Importance of learning sustainable practices in early preschool age (ECEfS)	22
3.2.1 The sustainable development goals	23
3.3. The kindergarten act in Norway	24
3.4. Waldorf pedagogic and adjusted curriculum	25
3.5. Norwegian public pedagogic and framework	28
3.5.1. Outdoor education	30
3.5.2. Connectedness to nature	31
3.5.3. Davis model beyond education <i>in</i> the environment	32
CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY	33
4.1. Research design.	33
4.2. Sample size and sampling techniques	34
4.3. Design of the interview	35
4.4. Selection of informants	36
4.5. Data collection and processing.	37
4.6. Coding and data analysis	38
4.7. Validity and reliability of the study	40
CHAPTER 5: RESULTS, ANALYSIS, AND DISCUSSION	41

5.1. Working with sustainability in kindergarten	41
5.1.1. Preschool teachers' perception of sustainable development	45
5.1.2. Teaching about sustainability	49
5.1.3 Learning in social context.	56
5.1.4. Challenges with practicing sustainability	59
5.2. Summarizing discussion.	62
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	65
6.1. Conclusion.	65
6.2. Limitations	67
6.3. Suggestion for future research	67
References	69
Appendix: Interview guide	83

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	36
Table 2	42
Table 3	45
Table 4	49
LIST OF FIGURE	
Figure 1.SDG goal	24

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Today, our planet faces various challenges, including climate change affected by global warming. According to the intergovernmental panel on climate change report, humans are the leading cause of current global warming (IPCC, 2014, p.5). Continuing this development would require 2.3 planets earth to support our energy use, waste production, levels of resources for a population that will reach 9 billion by 2050 (Bell, 2016). If it does, the future generations may expect dramatic changes in the climate and experience the loss of plant and animal life. In Norway, the average person emits 8,3 tons of carbon dioxide per year compared to Niger, with 0,1 tons per year (Ritchie & Roser, 2017).

By looking at these numbers, it tells us that our consumption is high and globally unevenly distributed. It also indicates the correlation between high income equals high consumption and low income equals low consumption (Bell, 2016).

Our way of living is unsustainable, and recognition for sustainable development to change this way of living has been around internationally since the 60s (IUCN, 1971).

The Brundtland report "Our common future" in 1987 was to help guide and unite world nations on social, economic, and political dimensions regarding sustainable development (WCED, 1987, Turkoglu, 2019).

The world commission on environment and development (1987), described the concept of sustainable development as following: ""Sustainable development is a development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. It contains the idea of limitations imposed by the state of technology and social organization on the environment's ability to meet present and future needs" (WCED, 1987, 427). Also, the Brundtland report defines it as the development of economic welfare and social justice for all humankind now and in the future within our earth's ecological limits (WCED, 1987, UNESCO, 2008). Besides, sustainable development should have investments, technological development orientation, and institutional change brought in line for future generations expectations and needs toward a sustainable living (WCED, 1987, p.15).

In addition, numerous agendas and developments have been set in motion to deal with these issues. Some of these strategies are Agenda 21 by United Nations on Environment Programme

and UNESCO's decade of education for sustainable development from 2005-2014 and the UN 20130 agenda for sustainable development (UNCED, 1992, UNESCO, 2005, United Nations, 2015). Furthermore, the international committees introduce and increase awareness around sustainable practices in early childhood education (UNESCO 2005, UNESCO 2017, Engdahl, 2015, Davis, 2010).

As a response to these global strategies and guidelines, Norway has made a highly progressive plan to cut greenhouse gas emissions by 50-55 percent by 2030 (Norwegian government, 2020). Norwegian policies and frameworks regarding climate change have been criticized for not doing enough, and approximately 40.000 Norwegian schoolchildren went on a school strike to get these progressive frameworks and policies in the wake of Greta Thunberg's school strike in Sweden (Aftenposten, 2019). The youth's awareness around climate change and global warming is increasing, and the need for "a shift in values, awareness, and practices in order to change our currently unsustainable patterns of consumption and production (UNICEF, 2013, p.16). Children will inherit the responsibility of looking after the earth, and "The specific interests of children need to be taken fully into account in the participatory process on environment and development in order to safeguard the future sustainability of any actions taken to improve the environment" (Agenda 21, 1992, Chap. 25, p. 12, Heggen, 2016, Goga, 2018)". The kindergarten is an important part of global societies and has a central role in the personal development of children and adults but also potentially the environment (Davis & Elliot, 2014, Arlemalm-Hagser & Davis, 2020). Various studies and scholars confirm that education plays a vital role in raising environmental awareness (UNESCO 2005, Ministry of Education, 2017, Perez-Ferra et al., 2020).

Turkoglu (2019, p.2) describes environmental education (EE) as recognizing values and clarifying concepts that will develop to skills and attitude necessary to understand and evaluate the relationship between human beings, their culture, and the biophysical environment. EE has been combined into the term of education for sustainable development (ESD) (Sageidet 2019, Breiting 2011, Eilam & Trop 2010). ESD seeks to "empower learners of all ages with the knowledge, skills, values, and attitudes to address the interconnected global challenges we are facing, including climate change, environmental degradation, loss of biodiversity, poverty, and inequality" (UNESCO, 2021). Early childhood education for sustainability (ECEfS) is also combined in ESD, and both concepts often involves outdoor play, gardening, and excursions in

nature (Engdahl, 2015). ECEfS promotes sustainability and provides an opportunity to investigate the ways in which sustainability is conceptualized in early education curricular documents (Weldemariam et al., 2017, p.335). These concepts will go hand and hand in this paper and ECEfS and ESD will be the most appropriate to use for this study and further addressed in chapter two.

The Norwegian framework and guidelines highlight that children should understand their actions and how they affect the coming generations, in line with the Brundtland report and UNESCO's ten-year decade on education for sustainable development. In 2017 the concept of ECEfS had been implemented by the Directorate of Education (2017) into the preschool framework and regulation. Additionally, children should learn how to think critically and act ethically (Ministry of Education, 2017, Weldemariam et al., 2017, Davis, 2009, Davis & Elliot, 2014). Multiple studies indicate that it is easier for children at an early age to adopt new ideas, attitudes,

Multiple studies indicate that it is easier for children at an early age to adopt new ideas, attitudes, and values rather than when they enter adulthood (Erten, 2005, Boyd, 2018,).

In Norway, outdoor playing in kindergartens and having a close relationship to nature have been long traditions (Sageidet ,2015). Scholars highlights that children need to develop an attachment to the environment to understand global and environmental topics (Stevenson 2007, Erten 2005, and Lieflander et al. 2013). Holistic, innovative ECEfS approaches can reach every child and increase attachment to the environment (Engdahl & Rabusicova, 2011, Lieflander et al., 2013, Bell, 2016).

The advantages of holistic and innovative sustainable practices from an early age can most likely play a considerable part in benefiting society. The kindergarten is an excellent place to start preparing young children for these practices, and the potential for further development is great (Bell, 2016, Davis & Elliott, 2014, Sageidet, 2014).

After years of effort to create new guidelines such as UNs ten-year decade for education for sustainable development international (UNESCO,2005), there is still no concluding answer to how ESD pedagogy should promote ECEfS. Multiple voices state a need for further research on ESD and ECEfS approaches (Davis, 2010, Davis & Elliott, 2014, Arlemalm-Hagser & Davis, 2020, Hedefalk et al., 2014, Sageidet, 2015). Hence, this study investigates how preschool teachers work and approach sustainability in public and Waldorf kindergartens (also known as Steiner kindergarten) in Norway.

The hypothesis this study wants to inspect is the following: *The Waldorf kindergartens focuses more on sustainable practices than the public approach, even if they are under the same Norwegian government framework*. Therefore, analyzing the public and Waldorfs teacher's sustainability approaches might give new insight into this field and further develop knowledge around the importance of ECEfS exercises that will expand the kindergarten's new creative ways to reach children and increase awareness of nature and the environment.

1.2 Comparing public kindergartens with Waldorf kindergartens

In Norwegian society, there is an association that public institutions have high-quality and competent teachers (Ministry of Education, 2016). In many other countries, the private sector has the highest quality and is the most influential institution over the public ones. A reason is that the public institutions have more extensive crowds and may have a lower economy than their counterparts (Haugset, 2019). The role of Waldorf kindergartens and schools in Norway has had its impacts on their students. There are 45 Waldorf kindergartens and 32 Waldorf schools in Norway. Throughout the decades, several celebrities have attended or worked within the Waldorf institution. The most recognized personality attending is the former prime minister of Norway and current secretary-general in NATO, Jens Stoltenberg (Johnsen, 2018).

The reasons for why this study chose the public kindergartens and Waldorf Kindergartens is several. A basis for comparing both is to see where the strength and differences lay and to enrich each other with positive practices.

The first reason for choosing the public kindergartens in Norway is to delve deeper into the government's sustainability framework and investigate their sustainable approaches and the teachers own perception of this. The second reason is the history of a long tradition of outdoor activities with nature, which is similar to Waldorf' practices and will be interesting to compare. Also, I have been inspired by an acquaintance who work in a public kindergarten who looks critical on her own sustainable practices. The third reason was, a study done on Waldorf teachers and environmental issues show that " pupils in Waldorf and public schools differ in regard to feelings of responsibility concerning social and moral questions of society" (Rikner & Ozolins, 2010, p.8), which raised the hypotheses about Waldorf practices focusing more on sustainability

than the public kindergartens. A fourth reason is a difference in pedagogical background. It would be interesting to see how much the public and Waldorf teachers know about educational sustainability and sustainable development goals. Fifth reason for choosing Waldorf kindergartens is its limited research on sustainability approaches in ECEfS and their pedagogic. The Waldorf pedagogic is another alternative to the public pedagogic and might contribute to new information that has the potential to enrich the public pedagogic.

The Waldorf high school is the first school in Norway to introduce general study specialization with sustainability (Holstad, 2020). Another aspect for selecting this institution is that its foundation is inspired and built on a philosopher named Rudolf Steiner. He is known for his research on developing biodynamic agriculture, biospheric values, alternative medicine and focuses on individualism and organic nature (Hansen, 2019).

1.3 Significance of this study

The children in kindergartens today will inherit and be affected by unsustainable practices such as global warming, climate change, and destruction of animal and plant life in the future and should be informed and raised toward meeting these problems (IPCC 2014, UNESCO, 2005, UNESCO, 2017). The human activity requires a fundamental change in our actions and the way we think.

Both international guiding documents (WCED,1989 and UNESCO, 2015) and numerous studies that were done on environmental education for sustainability and teaching methods from early childhood; claim that one way to change our environmental issues is through a more quality based and effective environmental education on sustainability from early childhood (Sageidet 2014, 2015, Fjørtoft, 2001, Davis, 2010, Stevenson, 2007). Therefore, promoting sustainability in kindergarten and analyzing what practices are used can be an essential tool toward a more sustainable future (UNESCO, 2017).

The research and literature toward Norwegian Waldorf pedagogic practices are limited. Also, the comparison to public methods are limited. Therefor this study aims to explore this lack of information and compare each other's approaches and see how the methods differ or don't differ. Teachers' perceptions and awareness around sustainability and how to participate in doing better

are vital for children; they will pay attention to how teachers promote it or do not promote it (Ministry of Education, 2013). Because of this, it would be interesting to investigate the kindergarten teachers experiences on practices done in the kindergarten toward sustainability; and their own perception of sustainability, and if their work "matters" in the larger context. Additionally, this paper wants to bring new information from Waldorfs pedagogic into the field of ECEfS. I also hope to contribute insightful and interesting perspective to sustainability practices done in the Waldorf kindergarten pedagogic.

At the end of this study, there will be further recommendations inspired by the kindergartens to help develop sustainability methods.

1.4 Aim and research questions

This study will be focusing on the public and Waldorf kindergartens (Steiner) approaches in Norway and analyze their similarities, challenges and differences with the help of the following research questions:

How do early childhood teachers work with sustainability, in kindergartens with Waldorf pedagogy and in public kindergartens, and what are the main differences? Which elements from the Waldorf pedagogy may enrich early childhood education for sustainability?

1.5 Disposition of chapters

This research paper is structured as followed:

- Chapter 1 presents an introduction this thesis topic chosen, this study's aim and research questions.
- Chapter 2 provides review of relevant literature.
- Chapter 3 describes the theoretical terms, concepts and framework.
- Chapter 4 illustrates methodology and research design used.
- ❖ Chapter 5 presents the results with discussion and analysis.
- Chapter 6 will conclude, show limitations and recommend further research on this topic.

CHAPTER 2: CONTEXTUAL BACKROUND

2.1 Brief history of environmental education and its development globally

The first world conference concerning the environment as an issue was the United Nations world conference on the environment in Stockholm in 1972. In their report, they argue that; "man's capability to transform his surroundings, if used wisely, can bring to all peoples benefits of development and the opportunity to enhance the quality of life. Wrongly or heedlessly applied, the same power can do incalculable harm to human beings and the human environment "(United Nations, 1972, p.3).

Also, their principle 19 in the report out folds the need to teach the younger generations about environmental matters and how they can improve and protect it; and not let the mass media confuse them with false information (United Nations, 1972). This report alongside with the Principle 19 seems to have inspired the following conferences on environmental education in Belgrade (1975) and Tbilisi (1977). Belgrade is the first conference on environmental education issues, and the following Tbilisi conferences have the same concerns as Belgrade and builds further from it.

In Belgrade, the ground foundation of awareness around EE was in place. Their goal was to: "To develop a world population that is aware of, and concerned about the environment and its associated problems, and which knows, skills, attitudes, motivations, and commitment to work individually and collectively toward solutions to current problems, and the prevention of new ones (UNESCO, 1975). They created a detailed set of EEs aims which were Awareness, Knowledge, Attitude, Skills, Evaluation ability, and Participation.

In 1977, UNESCO (The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization) and UNEP's (UN environment program) conference also provided fundamental environmental education principles that later turned into chapter 36 in Agenda 21. The final report from the 1977 meeting highlighted these significant factors to a successful implementation of EE:

"1. To foster clear awareness of and concern about economic, social, political, and ecological interdependence in urban and rural areas.

- 2. To provide every person with opportunities to acquire the knowledge, values, attitudes, commitment, and skills needed to protect and improve the environment.
- 3. To create new patterns of behavior of individuals, groups, and society as a whole, towards the environment" (UNESCO, 1977, p.26).

These guidelines helped to broaden the awareness around EE and further developed principles globally.

After these conferences, the concept of sustainable development was introduced and described in 1987 in the Brundtland report "Our common future". As the concept of Sustainable development has been described earlier, the need to explain it again is not necessary, but this was also a central event in the development of EE. The Brundtland report aimed to reunite the global communities towards a social and technological change with the focus of sustainable approaches that encourage healthy growth and equity for the generations to come, also in education (WCED 1987).

In 1992 there was held another conference in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil by the United Nations on Environment and Development. From this conference, the united nations implemented Agenda 21.

The Agenda 21 report builds further on that education is critical for sustainable development, and societies can reach their fullest potential if implemented (UNCED, 1992). Chapter 36 highlighted promoting public education and creating awareness and direct training towards EE and sustainable development; furthermore, the report talks about how we should deal with dynamics of both physical/biological and socio-economic environment and humans to be effective (UNCED, 1992). Also, they note that it is crucial to be aware of the children's interests and be considered in the environment and development processes. Since humans are the leading cause of sustainable problems, the need for change in our behavior is needed and acquire necessary tools to change them (UNCED, 1992).

The United Nations decided to run a program called UN decade for education for sustainability from 2005 to 2014. This program has helped create numerous practical projects, websites, and further development of scientific work focused on kindergarten and made it relevant for EE's lifelong cycle (Sageidet, 2015, p.1).

Also, the program has helped develop the knowledge and scientific work in the field of ECEfS in kindergarten and raised a higher awareness of its importance in the educational system and the lifelong cycle in Norway and globally (United Nations, 2020).

Today's agenda towards a sustainable future is The Agenda 2030 Sustainable development goals by the United Nations in 2015. The SDG goals are of significance in Norway and have affected how the Norwegian government has changed the curriculum. The SDG goal number 4 is about quality education and is to "ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all" (United Nations, 2020).

UNESCO has adopted and launched the education 2030 framework for action in 2015. This framework and the creation of SDG goal 4 show the importance of education today and the need to implement this quality globally. Education should provide increased knowledge, abilities, and attitudes to promote sustainable development (UNESCO, 1994, UNESCO, 2017).

UNESCO's EE's promotion, and its necessity as a tool to increase the quality of education globally and help prevent the lack of information around sustainability show its impact on our education for sustainable development. Multiple researchers argue that it is essential to teach the concept of environmental issues and sustainability to children (from preschool to high education) to care about their actions and consequences to the environment (Shultz, 2002, UNESCO 2017, Sageidet, 2019).

2.2 History of public kindergartens in Norway

The Norwegian society is recognized as a post-modern society that is highly pluralistic and diverse (Giddens, 1991, Sageidet, 2014). In this type of society, people's understanding of themselves and their environment is correlated to cultural, political, and economic characteristics from that society (Schreiner, 2006, Sageidet, 2014). Goods and services in the light of globalization have moved beyond utility use and are now symbolized with identity and status (Frønes, 1998, 2007, Schreiner, 2006). Therefore, many Norwegians live in a tension between the "Norwegian traditions, demands for environmental responsibility and their individual orientation within late modernity, which shape their motivational and personal value orientations" (Sageidet, 2014, p. 117).

The public kindergartens in Norway are run by and owned by the state and communes. Local parents, commercial companies, and congregations own the private kindergartens. In the beginning of the 60s, kindergartens in Norway were mainly privately owned, and for a small number of children, but from 1970, it has been integrated and expanded into the welfare system (Haugset, 2019, p.241). Today, putting one's child in kindergarten is a universal part of the welfare system in Norway. The ambitious political goals toward an equally high-quality daycare facility for all children have raised awareness toward the quality differences in kindergartens (Ministry of Education, 2016). Additionally, Haugset (2019) claims that the discourse around quality in kindergartens is notions that kindergarten is seen as an investment in the future's knowledge society (Paananen, Kumpulainen & Lipponen, 2015; Vannebo & Gotvassli, 2018). The free choice of choosing kindergartens and full coverage has created a competitive situation that affects both the public and private kindergartens (Børhaug & Lotsberg, 2012). Therefore, some kindergartens might change their values according to the market mechanism, and the different owners highlight different quality values and norms (Haugset, 2019). She further states an example of this; commercial kindergarten owners might have economic motives that will decrease different qualities that affect parents (p.242). According to the Ministry of Education (2020), kindergarten funding in Norway consists of the communes unrestricted income (the framework grant and tax revenues).

2.3 History of Waldorf Education

The Waldorf education has a history of 100 years old, and the number of schools and kindergartens has grown steadily all over the world in this period (Froden & Wright, 2018). As of 2018, there are approximately 1025 Waldorf schools and 2000 Waldorf kindergartens or preschools in 60 different countries, most of them in Central Europe (Froden & Wright, 2018, p.1402). They further claim that the basic ideas around Waldorf Education are universal. The Waldorf institutions are similar in colors, materials, wooden toys, and an aura for play and imagination when you visit them. The Waldorf pedagogy has its origin in Germany, but the more places that adapt to this pedagogy and adjust to local rhythms and traditions, the more diverse one can expect it to become (Ashley, 2009). The first Waldorf School was founded in 1919 by Dr.

Rudolf Steiner (1861-1925) on a request from the Waldorf-Astoria cigarette factory, Eirik Molt, and he wanted a school for the children of his workers (Froden & Wright, 2018, p.1403). Steiner stressed the importance of founding a non-confessional and politically independent school; this has led to the Waldorf kindergartens and schools addressing all children, regardless of their religion, class, or gender (Ashley, 2009). According to Froden and Wright(2018), it was the educator Elisabeth Von Grunelius that established the first Waldorf kindergarten in Germany in 1926; she and Klara Hatterman(colleague) contributed to early childhood education and formed guidelines for kindergarten practice according to the development of young children (p.1403). Additionally, they write that the saying that one should 'receive the children in reverence, educate them in love and let them go forth in freedom' and is attributed to Rudolf Steiner (p.1402). Regardless of where in the world the Waldorf kindergarten is located; " they decorate the rooms with lights, flowers or self-made artefacts, as well as neatly mending broken toys and tools, is believed to be a way of showing respect and care, not only for the environment but for other human beings and ourselves" (Froden & Wright, 2018, p.1412).

The first Norwegian Waldorf kindergarten came in 1934 in a private home at Smedstad by Gulle Brun and Vult Simon. It was at first meant as an offer for neighbors and friends under the occupation time regarding the war but got more attention and people joining in (Steinerfederation, 2017). The Norwegian Waldorf kindergarten federation highlights that their task in the first years of a child's life is to support basic competence that will be their foundation for receiving intellectual learning later. Also, their pedagogical vision is "to take every child's individuality seriously" (Steinerfederation, 2021).

2.4 Sustainability in education

Teaching about sustainable practices is the need to developing skills and attitudes that will help children in this case to understand and evaluate the relationship between education and culture and the biophysical environment (UNESCO, 2005, Turkoglu, 2019). Sustainability are subdivided into three principal dimensions, social, economic, and environmental (WCED, 1987).

- "1. The environmental responsibility is the ability to use natural resources without disturbing the balance and integrity of ecosystems.
- 2. Social solidarity refers to equal opportunity and social cohesion, including welfare, quality of life, and sustainable human development for humans. In addition, social solidarity aims to

develop education, communities, and health.

3. Economic efficiency refers to the effectiveness of economic and technological activities, encouraging investment and productivity, economic growth, and economic output potential, and seeks ways to eliminate income poverty" (Turkoglu, 2019, p.1-2, WCED, 1987).

These dimensions are foundation to unite the concept of sustainability from different areas and into education and must be looked at a holistic perspective which the Brundtland report also aimed at (WCED, 1987).

Because of the conferences on Environmental education from 1970 and the implementation of Agenda 21 and United Nations Ten-year decade with education for sustainable development it has been more and more integrated into the school's curriculum globally. Today, ESD is the collective concept used by scholars within the field concerning sustainability in education (Sageidet 2019, Breiting 2011, Eilam & Trop 2010). ESD "recognizes the environmental, social/cultural, economic and political dimensions of the learning processes involved" (UNESCO 2005, Engdahl, 2015, p.349).

From the document of World Summit 2005, ESD is referred as: " *The interdependent and mutually reinforcing pillars of sustainable development; social development, economic development, and environmental protection*" (United Nations 2005, Engdahl & Rabusicova, 2011, p.158). These are the fundamental component of sustainability, linking the three dimensions of economy, environment, and society (Fisher et al., 2018, Turkoglu, 2019). ESD is a field giving guidelines to how curriculums and frameworks can be. It teaches how students need to think rather than what to think and applies this thinking to real-world sustainability problems (Pacis & VanWynsberghe, 2020, Hedefalk et al., 2014). ESD is a lifelong process, from preschool to tertiary education, and should be considered a responsibility to deal with sustainable development matters and foster sustainability competencies (UNESCO, 2017). Besides, it requires a shift from teaching to learning; it asks for action-oriented, inter and transdisciplinary, and transformative pedagogy (p.7).

Moreover, Pacis and VanWynsberghe (2020) claim that pedagogies aim to involve learners in actively transforming society with developed habits that better their competencies.

Engdahl (2015) states that there has been established an international, non-governmental World Organization for Early Childhood Education (OMEP) which concerns; "to defend and promote

the rights of the child to education and care worldwide and supports activities which improve access to high-quality education and care" (p.349, OMEP, 2014)

Early childhood education for sustainability (ECEfS) "has its history in environmental education with activities in and about the natural environment, often involving outdoor play, gardening and excursions in nature" (Engdahl, 2015, p.350, Chawla, 2006; 2007, Bergan, 2019).

To sum up Environmental education (EE), education for sustainability (ESD), and early childhood education for sustainability (ECEfS) evolved from EE and are combined.

CHAPTER 3: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

3.1 Social-constructionist theory

This study will use a social-constructionist theory; this theory recognize that learning and education happen in social contexts conferences, kindergartens, and schools (Lave & Wenger, 1991, Vygotzky, 1986). The theory promotes the importance of practical activities and learning processes for sustainability transition in young children (Bell, 2016, Sageidet et al., 2019). Vygotzky (1986) belonged to the social construction movement; he emphasized that learning processes should not happen internally for the individual, but instead, one learns quicker in collaboration and interaction with others, it must happen in a social context before it internalizes in the individual (Sølvi Lillefjord, 2014, p.194-195, Gullaker, 2018). He further claimed the importance language had in this connection and its importance for developing cognitive and psychological functions. Scholars such as Hope, Schachter, and Wasik (2013) confirm that "communication with engaged adults contributes to increase the vocabulary of even very young children" (Sageidet et al., 2019, p.193). Besides, children's knowledge, ideas, and values develop through communication with each other and adults, and the teacher has an important role (Lyngsnes & Rismark, 2014, p.67, Vygotzky, 1986). Therefore, children's perspectives are vital to the teachers own reflections on their own work, and their development of activities and practices must be understandable for the children (Sageidet et al., 2019, Davis & Elliott, 2014). Other perspectives that focus on young children's and other age groups' identity construction in a post-modern society might be an essential tool to understand theirs and preschool teachers' motivations and values towards sustainable development (Schreiner, 2006, Sageidet, 2014). Relating and connecting with others for love and care and belonging to social groups who

appreciate and support us is central and could be a key to sustainable attitudes and behavior (Deci & Ryan, 2000, Johansson, 2001, Frønes, 2007, Schreiner, 2006, Sageidet, 2014). Also, the quality of the learning culture and activities within a kindergarten is influenced and formed by the preschool teachers' own perception of sustainable development, society, culture, and kindergarten practices (Alvestad & Løvberg, 2005, Davis, 2010, Hollins, 2008, Sageidet, 2014).

3.2 Importance of learning sustainable practices in early preschool age (ECEfS)

In light of the complex sustainability problems we are currently facing, what the youth will face after us," collaboration and innovation are seen as necessary; "there have been a host of educationally-based calls to action across the globe" (Pacis & VanWynsberghe, 2020, p.577). Preschool age is the most favorable age to start orienting the foundations concerns about sustainability and natural connections (Lamekhova, 2020, p.3). Various scholars state that the field of ECEfS should encourage and provide the young children with the skills and tools needed in order to understand and act on the concepts of sustainability (Davis, 2010, Davis & Elliot, 2014, Arlemalm-Hagser & Davis, 2020, Bell, 2016, Spitera, 2018,). The motivation toward increasing ECEfS from an early age and throughout their youth has the same type of arguments as Lamekhova, and another studies also confirms the "importance of stimulating children from early ages in order to lay down the basis of later learning" (Perez-Ferra et al., 2020, p.3). Another reason for children as a target group is that; children adopt skills, experiences, and abilities that will later construct their knowledge and personality in life (Perez-Ferra et al., 2020, Young, 2002). Therefore, it is crucial to incorporate habits and repetitive actions from an early age to raise responsible human beings that can face and prevent the damages from unsustainable practices. Research done by Young (2002) showed that the brain in early years of development is affected by environmental factors; therefore, the child's quality of care and interaction can have a long-lasting effect on the brain development (p.5, Abbas, 2020). These findings confirm what the Ministry of Education (2013) claims about "the employee's competence is the most important single factor for children to thrive and develop in kindergarten". ECEfS has the vital capability to enhance these skills, tools and values and attitudes to promote and support a sustainable development (UNESCO, 2008).

Kindergarten teachers can significantly influence the children through creative teachings and exposure and stimulus of knowledge presented through play and activities outside and indoors. It

has excellent potential for further analysis and development (Sageidet 2015, United Nations 2005). The 17 sustainability goals developed by the United Nations are cross-disciplinary goals that are of significance to the children and should get promoted early on (United nations, 2015). In the field of ECEfS different scholars have stated from their research that outdoor activities and engaging in the environment affect sustainable behavior and are favorable for the future development of children's abilities, values, and attitudes (Sahin & Alici, 2019, Nisbet et al., 2009, , Schultz, 2002). These methods are already frequently used in Norway and have been for several decades (Sageidet, 2014). A study done in Norway by Fjøtoft (2001) on children playing in an outdoor environment found that outdoor playing influenced them positively, such as creative playing and varied play forms. This will be further explained in the outdoor education chapter.

3.2.1 The sustainable development goals

It is also worth to delve more in-depth into the Sustainable development goals (SDG), central to the political, social, and economic dimensions. The SDGs are a part of the 2030 Agenda for sustainable development. The Agenda 2030s vision is "A world in which consumption and production patterns and use of all-natural resources -...One in which humanity lives in harmony with nature and in which wildlife and other living species are protected" (United nations, 2015, p. 4). In this Agenda, there are 17 main goals and 169 associated targets. They further claim that never before in history have world leaders come together to take action with a universal widespread policy agenda (United Nations, 2015). ESD is recognized in the SDG as part of the target 4.7 of the SDG on education;" By 2030, ensure that all learners acquire knowledge and skills needed to promote sustainable development, including, among others, through education for sustainable development and sustainable lifestyles "(UNESCO, 2017,.p.8). UNESCO (2017) further claims that ESD is important to all the SDGs and is essential to contribute to all efforts to achieve the SDGs; it enabled every individual to transform their own behavior.



Figure 1, source: The SDGs, The United Nations (2015)

As shown in figure 1, many, if not all the goals are relevant for society's institutions to some degree. Kindergartens in Norway have socially equalized and integration functions and notions on; quality education, climate action, justice/equality, responsible consumption and reuse, and projects on the welfare of animals and children (Directorate of Education, 2017, Haugset, 2019).

3.3 The kindergarten act in Norway

For this study, the most relevant and essential part of The Norwegian kindergarten act is paragraph 1; and the part regarding nature, environment, technology, and sustainable development in the framework will be further explored in chapter 3.5. It is not relevant for this study to go through the whole act and framework, just the most relevant parts for the discussion part.

The public and private kindergartens are under the same law and framework of the Norwegian kindergarten act and are bound to follow it (Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018).

The kindergarten act aims are "The kindergarten shall, in cooperation and understanding with the home, take care of the children's needs for care and play, and promote learning and education as a basis for all-round development. The kindergarten shall be based on fundamental

values such as respect for human dignity and nature, on intellectual freedom, charity, forgiveness, equality, and solidarity, which are rooted in human rights" (Kindergarten act, §1, 2010). Even if some of these aims came before the 17 SDG, they are significantly related. Goals number 10, 16, 5, and 4 (figure 1) are the most relevant for the statement above. Other aims of the act are" They must learn to take care of themselves, each other and nature. The children will develop basic knowledge and skills. The kindergarten must meet the children with trust and respect and recognize the intrinsic value of childhood. It will contribute to well-being and joy in play and learning and be a challenging and safe place for community and friendship (Kindergarten act, §1, 2010). Several of the other goals can be correlated to the act such as SDG 3 and 11-16 (figure 1). It is essential to note that this act is updated regularly with new passages or adjustments from new legislations and frameworks from modern politics.

Kindergartens, therefore, have an important task in promoting values, attitudes, and practices for more sustainable societies (UNESCO, 2005, Bell, 2016, Hagser & Elliot, 2017). The kindergarten must help the children to understand that today's actions have consequences for the future.

3.4 Waldorf pedagogy and adjusted curriculum

The Waldorfs pedagogy is influenced and founded by philosopher Rudolf Steiner's (1861-1925) view on the holistic individual. Steiner advocated holism and biospheric values as; "for children, everything is one, and they are also one with their surroundings (Steiner, 1924, p.58). In other words, this claim suggests that every child attending Waldorf is unique and shall evolve to be their best self-regarding abilities, skills, interests with nature. People who have strong biospheric values "care for nature and the environment as such and more strongly base their judgments and decisions to engage in particular actions on consequences of their behaviour for nature and the environment" (Van der Werff et al., 2013,p.628). This is an important part of Waldorf pedagogy and education (Carlgren, 1978, Liebendorfer, 1997, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010).

Besides, in Norway, the Waldorf school has developed an introductory document on its teaching philosophy, values, and skillsets. The Norwegian Waldorf kindergartens are under the same regulations as the other public/private ones, but they have created and adjusted a local framework for the Waldorf environment; "to describe the Waldorf pedagogical basics and working methods in greater detail" (Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018, p.5). The local adjusted Norwegian framework

for Waldorf kindergartens recognizes this and has their values influenced and based on Rudolf Steiner's thinking. Besides, they honor the holistic view in their pedagogy and framework and," *It recognizes humans, animals, nature, and the whole earth as an ecosystem are seen as interdependent parties on each other*" (Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018, p.7). The adjusted framework recognizes that there is no one-sided cognitive view of acquired knowledge. There are several ways of acquiring it through sociocultural and emotional ways activated during children's learning and development. Also, their perspective dissolves the hierarchical thinking that the child is unfinished (Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018).

Waldorfs learning theory that informs Waldorf pedagogy, also resonates with the local Norwegian framework for Waldorf kindergartens, is summarized clear as following (Loebell 2017, Rawson, 2018, p.51-52);

- 1. "An expression of the activity of the person forming her individuality, which is emergent and open. Learning is an individual process of becoming more experienced.
- 2. Becoming through experience occurs in different ways in thinking, feeling, and willing; in other words, thinking and willing with full consciousness, partial consciousness, and while we are unconscious. The Waldorf approach is to educate both thinking and willing indirectly via the feelings. How this is done varies fundamentally between early childhood and requires teachers to be artistic in their whole approach.
- 3. Rhythm is a vital aspect of learning. Pedagogy as an art involves structuring and finetuning the rhythms of learning.
- 4. Bodily experience leads to embodied cognition, emphasizing the central importance of sensory experience, concrete encounters with the world, and activities involving movement and physical skills.
- 5. The teacher's significance is vital, not only as a shaper and observer of learning processes but also as an active meaning-maker.
- 6. Steiner emphasizes that learning is an ongoing, lifelong process.

- 7. The Waldorf approach to teaching and the material that is taught changes at these stages to interact developmentally with the pupils. The curriculum brings learning experiences to the pupils that enable them to engage with developmental challenges.
- 8. Learning involves three qualities of participation in the world: directing attention to the world, social participation of individuals in learning processes "(Loebell 2017, Rawson 2018, p.51-52).

The role of adults and social relationships is essential for raising and teaching the children in Waldorf pedagogy (Boyd, 2018, Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018). The qualities and competence of adults in Waldorf pedagogy are highly valued. Boyd (2018) notes that Steiner pedagogy "embraces a meaningful relationship with one educator and be supported in a nurturing environment" (p.231, O'Donnell, 2013,).

Furthermore, Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen (2018) state that play and the social context is the most vital part of the children's day, " *it is an own arena for fantasy, friendship, relations and development of the language and life ambition. Research confirms play in early childhood is important to develop creativity, cooperation with people who have different views than oneself*"(Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018, p.22). Another aspect in Waldorf pedagogy is "rhythm" in learning (Avison & Rawson, 2016, p.31).

Their day is structured in an organic way, which will assure healthy and balanced activities, such as moving and resting" (Boyd, 2018, p.231). Also, Boyd (2018) highlights that "these rhythms and activities can provide a direct connection to both physical and biological sustainability"(p.231). Steiner had advocated the biospheric values and ideas regarding regenerative gardening and sustainable living in his biodynamic program from 1924, showing that his concerns came long before it was "hot" (Boyd, 2018). Gardening and sustainable living can relate to the outdoor environment one typically find in Waldorf kindergartens, which is a natural garden with a playground, grass, fruit trees, organic whole foods, small huts, home-made wooden swings, and natural sandpits are preferred in place of plastic slides and climbing frames and asphalt (Froden & Wright, 2018, p.1412). It also relates to their use of wooden and handmade toys from natural materials rather than plastic toys.

3.5 Norwegian public pedagogy and framework

The Norwegian government has based its framework for kindergarten and school on ESDs history and international documents. The framework has chapters where sustainability and nature, technology, and environment got separated into their own categories, showing the government's high focus (Ministry of Education, 2017). However, taking responsibility and respecting the environment and nature has been familiar to the Norwegian attitudes and values before the Brundtland report (Sageidet, 2014, p.114).

Decades ago, the Ministry of Children and Family in Norway put into the education framework for preschool teachers "to promote the will to actively protect the nature and environment" (Ministry of Children and Family, 1995, p.50).

The Norwegian government has sponsored and cooperated with several non-governmental organizations that work on supply information and activities towards sustainable development and group identity in kindergartens (Frønes, 2007, Schreiner, 2006, Sageidet, 2014). This happened before the government implemented sustainable development in the framework in 2017. Kindergartens can do this by working on projects and focus on sustainability for everyday life and receive certificates for "green flag" and eco-lighthouses (Sageidet, 2014). Kindergartens that engage in environmental profiles or have certificates may attract more engaged preschool teachers interested in sustainability (Sageidet, 2014, p.120). Davis (2010) claim that this is one-way kindergartens can become more sustainable (p.273).

Furthermore, the kindergartens have three interdisciplinary subjects in the new curriculum, sustainability, development, and life mastery (Haukeland and Lund-Kristensen, 2019). It furthers claims that these subjects "are on current societal challenges that require commitment and effort from individuals and the community... children and young people must understand how we can find solutions through knowledge and collaboration, and they must learn about connections between actions and consequences" (Haukeland & Lund-Kristensen, 2019, p.70, Ministry of Education, 2017). This statement is related to the kindergarten's meaning, for humans to live harmoniously globally and locally with nature.

Though, the Norwegian kindergartens are inspired by the term "Eco pedagogical-philosophy." Arne Næss (1912-2009) explains Ecopedacocical-philosophy as a personal value-oriented holistic view where we integrate as a part of the web of life (Haukeland and Lund-Kristensen, 2019, p.72, Næss, 1973).

This philosophy's meaning is to bring ecological concerns to light and change our actions and mentally toward a more holistic sustainable mindset (Bjørndal & Lieberg, 1975). Næss further claims that this ecological self is a process where we react to other species' interests as they were our interests (Haukeland and Lund-Kristensen, 2019, Næss, 2005). An example of this understanding could be that some children have spotted two spiders in the corner. One of the teachers asked them if they think that the spiders want to live and try to help the spiders. Here is where the focuses on the children shifts. The teacher then asks if they should find cups to capture the spiders to let them out in nature. The children march with the spiders out in an enthusiastic way. Afterward, the teacher talks about this event with the children in a holistic view and says that it is not a must to take a life, but sometimes we must do so to live.

Moreover, all living beings do so to live, but only if it is essential. This pedagogical ecological way of thinking is vital to teaching young children to create a good set of values and norms. In this example, the teacher uses an eco-pedagogical approach, which Haukeland and Lund-Kristiansen (2019) define as "theoretical and practical pedagogical that solve problems in ecological research, and eco philosophy is central (p.75)". This type of approach focuses on the Norwegian framework and kindergarten teachers seen as eco pedagogy.

The Norwegian framework toward outdoor play in kindergarten is central to assure the children's understanding of nature, biological ecology, and sustainable practices (Ministry of Education, 2017). In their chapter about nature, environment, and technology, their most essential highlights states:

- "1. That experiences and the need to explore nature and nature's diversity
- 2. Get good experiences with outdoor activities all year
- 3. Experience, explore, and experiment with natural phenomena and physicals laws
- 4. Gaining knowledge of nature and sustainable development, learn from nature and develop respect and an understanding of how they can take care of nature gaining knowledge of animals and wildlife
- 5. Make construction of different materials and exploring opportunities inherent in tools and technology
- 6. Gaining knowledge of the human life cycle" (Ministry of Education, 2017). Sageidet (2014) states that this subject is for children to gain a beginning understanding of the significance of sustainable development. The ministry claims that every preschool teacher should

promote the understanding of sustainable development through different activities, literature, play, and words that will further develop the interest in the environment among children (Ministry of Education and Research, 2006). If every preschool teacher promotes their subjective understanding of sustainable development, this quality will vary significantly from kindergartens everywhere in Norway (Sageidet, 2014, Alvestad & Løvberg, 2005, Davis, 2010). We will come back to this point in chapter 5. Additionally, this framework's principles are to promote love for nature and understand how nature and humans connect and interact with each other (Sageidet, 2015, Ministry of Education 2006, Ministry of Education 2017). The children should develop an understanding of what sustainable development means for our society (UNESCO,2017, Bell, 2016, Arlemalm-Hagser & Elliot, 2017).

3.5.1 Outdoor education

Outdoor education and its positive effect on children's well-being are a topic that has had an increased rate of research in the last years. The well-being of children is expressed in positive feelings where the psychological, social and physical resources they need are met (Bjørgen, 2015, Dodge et al.,2012). Bjørgen (2015) argues that the paradox from lifestyles today is that the youth sits more still and has become less physically active and more passive in the recent decades (p.306). Outdoor activities and living in line with nature and taking care of it is nothing new in Norwegian kindergartens; the same goes for recycling and reusing (Lysklett, 2013, Sageidet, 2014,). The Norwegian framework emphasizes being out in nature; "children should develop a positive self-image through physical achievements and have positive experiences of outdoor activities" (Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research, 2011, p.35,)

Nature is highly available throughout Norway. Research confirms that most of the time,

Norwegian children spend their outdoor activities on spontaneous play and gain positive attitudes

A study done by the American scientist Richard Louv in 2008, studied children who played in nature had better collaboration skills, concentration, attention, and overall better health conditions than children who did not play in nature (Haukeland & Lund-Kristensen, 2019). This study and others have contributed to raise the awareness around the value of outdoor education in schools and kindergartens internationally (Giske et al., 2010, Fjørtoft, 2001, Mjaavatn & Fjørtoft, 2008, Sandseter, 2010). Different scholars also argues the significance of outdoor play; it promotes

toward their environment (Mjaavatn & Fjørtoft, 2008, Bjørgen, 2015).

positive risk-taking, motor skills and physical fitness and wellbeing (Giske et al., 2010, Ministries, 2004, Mjaavatn & Fjørtoft, 2008, Sandseter, 2010)

Ingunn Fjørtofts (2001) study on outdoor activities indicated that children who used the forest as a playground performed better in motor skills than children who had traditional playgrounds. She also states from different studies that children's behavior broadened when they used and had available physical diversity of environment; she concluded an effect found in balance and coordination abilities (Fjørtoft, 2001). Multiple studies show an important and positive correlation between the developed motor skills and playing outdoor (Grahn et al.,1997, Giske et al.,2010, Sandseter, 2010). Furthermore, outdoor activities and relating to the environment can contribute to pro sustainable-behaviour (Sahin & Alici, 2019, Nisbet et al., 2009, Shultz, 2002,). Outdoor activities and having a connection with the physical environment seem to have a great deal of impact on their motor skills, well-being, attitudes, among other abilities.

3.5.2 Connectedness to nature

Since the youth has become more still sitting and staying inside, we may become more alienated from nature, which might negatively impact the development of what it means to be "human" (Wilson, 1984). Our problems connected to environmental issues have a connection to our relationship with nature; (Soga & Gaston, 2016). Besides, if children are a lot inside, they do not develop a connection with nature; our more profound connection to nature is vital for taking care of it. Our global warming and environmental issues might be a response to our relationship with nature. Many people have joined the global helplessness belief (what I do doesn't matter in the big picture, we are doomed anyways mindset), which is concerning because it prevents them from engaging in environmental and sustainability issues (Cooke & Fielding, 2010, Sageidet, 2015). Considering these issues, individuals must value and feel concerned for their environment to protect it (Lieflander et al., 2013, Heggen et al., 2019). People need to feel like a part of nature to reach their sustainable development goals (Schultz, 2002). Studies regarding altruistic and biospheric values has shown a positive relationship with pro- environmental behaviour (Stern, 2000, Stern & Dietz, 1994, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010).

Also, nature connectedness is linked to biospheric values which increases pro-environmental action" and means any action that enhances the quality of the environment" (Steg et al, 2014, p. 104, Nguyen et al, 2016, p. 99, Barr et al, 2005). Consumers "with strong adherence to

biospheric values are generally more concerned about the environment and place emphasis on how the purchase of eco-friendly products to protect it...and assign more importance to environmental impact" (Nguyen et al.,2016, p.100). Another aspect with values are they likely develop in early life and are general and remain stable over time (Stern et al, 1995, Feather, 1995, Stern, 2000, Van der Werff et al., 2013)

Besides, Schultz and Tabanico (2007) developed an implicit association test that would investigate the identification with self as part of the environment. In their study, visitors (both children and adults) had one day in a wild animal park, and they found that the visitors developed an increase in connectedness with nature just after one day (Schultz & Tabanico, 2007). They also confirm that our relationship to nature increases after spending time in it.

The concept of nature connectedness is also relevant to outdoor education. Scholars claim that connectedness to nature is critical and should get higher priority in connection with ECEfS (Lieflander et al., 2013, Heggen et al., 2019, Davis, 1998). They state that ESD and ECEfS should focus on contributing teenagers and children to gain positive experiences in nature via outdoor activities, games, and experiments (Lieflander et al., 2013, Davis, 1998, Hedefalk et al., 2014). Connectedness with nature throughout ECEfS is crucial for the young generation's well-being and could be a central tool to reach a sustainable future.

To increase children's connectedness to nature could be that "children need to experience and know plants' and animals' needs, their habitat, how to reduce, reuse and recycle materials that were used, how to keep ecosystems linked to forests and water" which is significant for their ecological engagement as adults (Gadotti, 2010, p.232, Chawla, 2006; 2007;, Heggen, 2019). It could be a helpful tool and a fun way for children to learn and experience biodiversity when increased. Increasing education for sustainability from an early age(preschool) can benefit future societies by raising environmentally accountable conscious individuals (UNESCO 2005, UNESCO 2017, Bell, 2016, Chawla, 2007).

3.5.3 Davis model beyond education *in* the environment

Davis (1998, 2010) claims that the "environmental" approaches in ECEfS should focus beyond education *in* the environment. There are several scholars and researches that has confirmed the need to focus on education beyond *in* the environment (Robottom, 1987, Yeshalem, 2013, Elliot et al., 2020).

Davis (1998, 2010) suggests that there should be a stronger knowledge component through education *about* the environment and more development of programs that have action-orientation of education *for* the environment (p.119). These are whole, broad, and overlapping approaches. She furthers claims: "

Education *in* the environment provides for direct experiences with the environment and develop positive feelings and attitudes toward nature and natural elements. But this is not enough to develop future citizens who will know-how and will desire to live their lives sustainably. Education *about* the environment encourages learners to understand how natural systems work, to appreciate their complexity, and to understand how these and human systems interact. Education *about* requires an understanding of ecological principles and their processes. Education *for* the environment adds a more overtly political dimension concerned with social critique and social action for change. Education *for* the environment requires teachers who are environmental advocates; who understand the long-term implications of unsustainable actions; who help children to act collaboratively to be caretakers of each other and protectors of the earth; who actively help children and families resist a focus on consumption and possessions (Davis, 1998, p.119, Davis, 2010). Her researches also confirm the importance of the teacher's role in promoting sustainable attitudes in kindergartens.

CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY

4.1 Research design

To make a research design is to give the study structure and make coherent selections that will produce dependable and valid scientific results (Cavana et al., 2001, Blaikie, 2010). This thesis will compare public and Waldorf kindergartens sustainability approaches; also, similarities and differences will come to light. The following research questions will be explored:

"How do early childhood teachers work with sustainability, in kindergartens with Waldorf pedagogy and in public kindergartens, and what are the main differences? Which elements from the Waldorf pedagogy may enrich early childhood education for sustainability?"

To explore these questions, a qualitative research method will be used. Qualitative research involves the studied use and collection of a variety of empirical materials – for example case study, personal experience interview and observational that describe routine and difficult moments and meanings in individuals lives in their natural surroundings (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005, p.2). This approach is known for its flexibility, go deep and allowing the researcher to make cultural assumption, which there is less of in the quantitative method (Brannen, 2017, Repstad, 2007). Brannen (2017) further confirms that in the quantitative approach, the instrument is pre-determined, making the researcher not that flexible and less suitable for cultural assumption. The quantitative method is also known to be time-consuming and complex, while the qualitative method needs less planning (Roudgarmi, 2011, Brannen, 2017).

Another aspect with the qualitative approach is to, "taking richer and more holistic qualities of real-life circumstances, flexibility in design and procedures allowing adjustments in process, sensitivity to meanings" (Roudgarmi, 2011, p.871). Given these facts, the qualitative approach is the best fit because of its flexibility, less time-consuming efforts, and room for more cultural assumptions. Additionally, this research will use inductive reasoning. Inductive reasoning is a viable method of "doing science" and are formulated by drawing general interpretations from cases of empirical data (McAbee et al., 2017, p.278). It is suitable for looking for patterns from the informants and find a deeper truth and conclusion (Antwi & Kasim, 2015, McAbee et al., 2017).

This research design contains qualitative interviews. the analysis from the data collected and inductive reasoning.

4.2 Sample size and sampling techniques

Dworkin (2012) claims that there is no right or wrong approach to how many samples the research needs to get enough sample size but instead acquiring enough data to answer the research question(s). This study will then gather enough information to broaden and enrich the discussion and use an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon (Dworkin, 2012). Using an indepth understanding is "often centered on the how and why of a particular issue, subculture, situation and social interactions" (p.1319). Besides, this study will use the concept of data saturation, which Dworkin (2012) defines "as the point at which the data collection process no longer offers any new or relevant data" (p. 1319-1320).

Data saturation is obligated to occur, so the examiner knows that they have composed enough data that truthfully reflects the informants' viewpoints (Kolb, 2012). This study will use a purposeful sampling technique (Gentles et al., 2015). In other words, by using a purposeful sampling technique the data collected will have different perspectives that increases the chance to attain better understanding of the phenomena collected (Gentles et al., 2015, Etikan et al., 2016). With this in mind, this study will use twelve informants, seven from public kindergartens and five from Waldorf kindergartens, three of the public kindergartens are outdoor and farm kindergartens (under the same regulations and do not have an alternative pedagogic just being outside in a higher degree than other "public" kindergartens). Choosing outdoor and farm kindergartens could reveal interesting perspectives towards the theory selected and make this study richer. The samples used in this study provides more variety in the responses and wider viewpoints; different cities are represented to achieve these viewpoints concerning sustainability work in kindergartens (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Due to the Covid-19 pandemic situation, I only got to visit one kindergarten in person; I hoped to visit three in the area to understand their sustainability practices better, but the telephone was preferred.

4.3 Design of the interview

This thesis will use interviews from twelve kindergarten teachers with experiences from three different concepts (Waldorf, regular, outdoor/farm). The informants have backgrounds as educational administrators, kindergarten teachers, child and youth workers, and Waldorf pedagogics. Five from Waldorf kindergarten and six from regular kindergarten, two of them are from outdoor/farm kindergarten. Furthermore, this study uses semi-structured interviews, characterized as more open-ended and more theoretically driven questions (Galletta, 2013). Having semi-structured interviews allows for the informants to give broader statements and more narrative stories than closed questions. Galleta (2013) confirms that this allows the informant to be more comfortable and feel freer under the interview. By using the semi-structures, it will allow the researcher to make follow up questions and further adjustments during the interviews, confirming the flexibility of such an approach (Brannen, 2017, Galleta, 2013). This study used many open and broad questions that allowed the informants to give more

profound answers that reflected their core values and different perception to the topic, which this study is also after.

Moreover, before the interviews were collected, an interview guide was prepared with twelve questions, to stay on course (see appendix, page 83).

To prepare for the interviews, the informants received an e-mail with deeper info about the research purposes/topics and their rights as informants. It is necessary to consider the pandemic affecting everyone at this hour. The Covid-19 situation has affected this research, and all but one interview has been conducted on the phone in March. My informants are anonymously presented in the following chapters.

4.4 Selection of informants

The informants are carefully selected on purpous from different Norwegian cities to gain a wide viewpoint in order to achieve a dependable research (Gentles et al, 2015). The cities with numbers of informants represented (public kindergartens); three are from Stavanger, one from Trondheim, one from Tromsø, one from Oslo, and the last one is from Kristiansand. Waldorf Kindergartens represented with number; One from Kristiansand, one from Trondheim, two from Oslo, and one from Bergen (see table 1).

This selection of various cities has given this research better interpretations from the informants (Aspers & Corte, 2019, Abbas, 2020). It is essential to state that the informant's perspective can't represent all kindergarten's views on sustainability approaches in Norway, only the ones represented in this thesis and their kindergartens. Under table 1, there are acronyms for the informants, "WA 1", "RE 2" and "REO 3", the first is informants from Waldorf kindergartens, the second stands for public kindergartens, and the last is for the outdoor/farming kindergartens.

Table 1: Distribution of the selected informants

Pedagogic title?	Cities the informants	Number of people	Abbreviated names
	belonged to	interviewed	of the informants
Waldorf pedagogic	Kristiansand	1	WA 1
	Trondheim	1	WA 2
			WA 3

	Oslo	2	WA 4
	Bergen	1	WA 5
General pedagogic	Stavanger	3	RE 1
	Trondheim	1	RE 2
	Tromsø	1	RE 3
	Oslo	1	RE 4
	Kristiansand	1	REO 1
			REO 2
			REO 3

4.5 Data collection and processing

Due to another Covid-19 lockdown and an increased amount of time to process the Norwegian Center for Research and Data (NSD) application, this study did not tape or record the interviews. During the collection, simple tools like pen and paper or on the computer where used when collecting the data through digital media (phone and zoom). The data collected was from pedagogical kindergarten teachers and one youth and child worker, and educational administrators. Structuring an interview-guide started in February 2021; the data collection lasted the whole month of March 2021. When calling or sending email to the potential kindergartens for interviews, the researcher stated the rights informants have, such as it will be anonymous, voluntary, and the informants can withdraw at any time of the interview.

In most cases, the interview guide got sent to the informants before the interview, and in three other cases, they did not prepare beforehand. One reason was that the first kindergarten teacher who said yes got switched with another colleague, which was argued to fit "better" for the topic. The two other cases were that they had time right away to get interviewed. Moreover, the interview guide consists of twelve questions relevant to the research questions, the follow-up

questions is not part of that number. The semi-structured interview guide made it easier to explain the broad questions if the informant was confused and ask follow-up questions (Galletta, 2013). The interviews lasted around 20-25 minutes and most of the interviews were conducted by phone, one where through Zoom and one kindergarten I got to visit and interview in person. Telephone interviews are perceived as a less attractive and neglected alternative in the qualitative method than in the quantitative method (Novick, 2008). Despite this, various scholars have judged qualitative telephone data to be "rich, vivid, detailed, and of high quality" (Novick, 2008, p.393, Chapple, 1999, Kavanaugh & Ayres, 1998, Sturges & Hanrahan, 2004; Sweet, 2002). Novick (2008) declares that the informants have been described as relaxed on the telephone, talking more freely, and disclosed intimate information. Another positive aspect of telephone interview is the increased access to disparate subjects (p.393, Sturges & Hanrahan, Sweet, 2002). These scholars insist that a disadvantage with a telephone interview is the disturbance in their environment, but this was also true for face-to-face interviews. Finally, there will be used "verbatim quotations" from the informants. This strategy has become an effectively standard practice in qualitative social research; when showing evidence and making conclusion verbatim quotations had a key role here (Corden & Sainsbury, 2006). Various authors within the health and social welfare sector "spell out how inclusion of excerpts from transcripts help to clarify links between data, interpretation, conclusion, discussed variously within concepts such as validity, reliability and credibility "(Corden & Sainsbury, 2006, p.1, Beck, 1993, Greenhalgh & Taulor, 1997, Spencer et al., 2003, Long & Godfrey, 2004). Therefor this study will use this strategy to increase the validity and reliability.

4.6 Coding and data analysis

When conducting the data and creating an analysis from the semi-structured interviews, it is essential to have the research question in mind and the big picture (Stuckey, 2015). She explains the importance of creating a storyline or narrative related to the research question, "what are the data telling me that will help me understand more about the research question?"(p.2). This study transcribed and analyzed the data and coded it with a qualitative content analysis approach (QCA). Content analysis is a flexible method for analyzing text data; it describes a group of

analytic approaches ranging from intuitive, interpretative analysis to systematic and strict text analysis (Rosengren, 1981, Cavanagh, 1997, Hsieh & Shannon, 2005).

The QCA approach highlights "the systematic reduction of content, analyzed with special attention to the context in which it was created, to identify themes and extract meaningful interpretations of the data" (Roller & Lavrakas, 2015, p.232).

Hsieh and Shannon (2005) suggest three design types within the QCA where conventional content analysis is chosen for this study. They further suggest that the last-mentioned design is appropriate when the theory or research literature into this particular phenomenon is limited, and the researcher aims to allow new insights to emerge (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005, p.1279, Kondracki & Wellman, 2002). Also, Hsieh and Shannon (2005) suggest the "advantage of the conventional approach to content analysis is gaining direct information from study participants without imposing preconceived categories or theoretical perspectives" (p. 1279-80). Therefore, this study will use this approach. Roller and Lavrakas (2015) propose two phrases in the process of QCA; Phrase 1 is data generation; absorb content, determine the unit of analysis, develop unique codes, conduct preliminary coding, code content. Phrase 2 is data analysis; categories, identify patterns and draw interpretations (p.235).

In coding, words are data waiting to be interpreted, and coding will make it more meaningful and give a better overview (Pierre & Jackson, 2014).

Regarding these steps, I first read through the material I collected from the interviews. I tinted the most related information that captured key replies relevant to how Waldorf and public teachers work with sustainability in the kindergarten, with kindergarten act and other theory in mind and find the main differences (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005).

Then I would find several new patterns in the text from the interviews, and the codes were sorted into categories and given names; thus, the new codes were organized and grouped into meaningful clusters (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005, p. 1279). These were the final codes from the data collected (see table 2, page 42): (1) Preschool teachers' perception of sustainable development, (2) teaching about sustainability, (3) learning in social context, (4) challenges with practicing sustainability.

Lastly, I made suggestions from the codes with examples from the interviews (see table 2, page 42). In chapter 5, the findings from QCA are illustrated, analyzed, discussed with social-constructionist theory, the public and Waldorf framework, other theory, and Davis model *about*

in and, *for* education in the environment to explore the research questions.

4.7 Validity and reliability of the study

Validity and reliability are concepts in qualitative research meant to be about precision (Bashir et al., 2008). Bashir et al. (2008) further declare that validity means to what extent data is credible, plausible, and trustworthy and how the study can defend it; it also rests on data collection, analysis techniques, and the method. While reliability refers to the research inquiry's demonstration and procedures, other researchers may repeat them and get similar findings (Riege, 2003). The method used in this research consists of a prepared interview guide with carefully selected questions and informants from various parts of the country; the purpose of different cities was to rise diversity in answers and has increased the data's reliability (Gentles et al., 2015, Etikan et al., 2016). After approximately three interviews with Waldorf teachers, a pattern was created on similarities between their practices and pedagogical approaches, and saturation had happened. There were also similarities between the public teachers after approximately three-four interviews, and a pattern and saturation also occurred here, increasing the reliability and validity of this study. To increase the validity, this research used direct quotes from the informants (verbatim accounts) and asked them again if something felt missed out or not enough information on. A central issue regarding data quality from telephone interviews is the loss of visual cues, informal communication, and contextual information (Novick, 2008). However, most of the informants gave detailed, quality information and seemed relaxed and open through the phone. This research also consists of the researcher's inductive reasoning and knowledge of sustainable practices in society which is a minor perspective and is a weakness. Since the qualitative method does not favor high numbers, the sample size answers cannot be generalized and might also be a weakness (Roudgarmi, 2011).

Also, I just got to visit one kindergarten due to Covid-19 restrictions; I got a sense of how it would be if I visited more kindergartens in the area. The kindergarten teacher I interviewed showed me some of the children's environmental projects, food plans, garbage/sorting bins, and reused/repaired toys. Visiting more kindergartens would allow me to add data from observations and interpret the learning context and their sustainable approaches more accurately and give me more in-depth discussions.

Finally, this study has described the issues related to validity and reliability and justified them in the sections above.

CHAPTER 5: RESULTS, ANALYSIS, AND DISCUSSION

I will present and combine the results from the data coding found from the QCA with the analysis and discussion.

The results will be divided related to identified themes and then analyzed in one chapter with four underparts: Working with sustainability: teachers own perception, teaching children about sustainability, learning in social context and challenges with working with sustainability. Also, analyzation of the results and discussion with theory will be joint in these underparts. Finally, in chapter 6 I will conclude and give closing notes.

5.1 Working with sustainability in kindergarten

To answer how the early childhood teachers work with sustainability in kindergarten, it will be divided into four under chapters. First, each chapter will present the results and then link it with theory through analyzing and discussion.

Table 2 will give an overview of the Conventional analysis codes regarding how the teachers work with sustainability and how the chapters will be divided. The results use longer direct quotes from the preschool teachers to strengthen the validity and caption more accurate interpretations. Some informants gave broader detailed replies than others which will result in longer quotes. Finally, while conducting material from the informants, most of them have been very reflective and enlightening when giving their information.

Table 2: Codes on how the preschool teachers work with sustainability in the kindergarten with examples

Code	Example from the interviews
Preschool teachers' perception of	"Well, I think it is about taking care of things.
sustainable development	I do not believe my sustainable practices have
	any difference to the environment". (RE 3)
	"It is about that we should take care of nature, learn about animals and taking care of them, research shows that those taking care of the animals will project this over to adults and other kids and take care of their environment and nature. REO 1 also stated; Yes, I believe I can make a difference; it is significant to be a good role model for the children" (REO 1) "It's about not ruining the environment for future generations, and that I should not buy
	more than necessary; it is also important to reuse things and buy environmentally friendly products that are not harmful to the
	environment, animals, health and economy." (WA 4)
Teaching about sustainability	"Yes, we do. We have environment projects all year round, every year for the oldest children. We talk about reusing things and are conscious about using cardboard instead of plastic. Our children always pick up trash when they are outside and ask questions about why there is so much trash everywhere.

Our biggest children love spending time outside; we are outside almost all day. (REO 2)

"We learn the children that it is essential to take care and respect their environment and nature. I tell them that for example, we should not pull the bushes and trees because that harms it". RE 2 also says; To just sit inside with mobile, iPad, tv the development of love for nature is not created, nor the need to taking care of it" (RE 2)

"We take huge responsibility of taking the children outside every day, no matter the weather, I want them to create a bond with nature and feel connected to it" (WA 2).

Learning in social contexts

"What preoccupies me transfers over to the others in the kindergarten. The adults are very important, and the quality of the staff. Adults are role models for the children; they mimic what we provide of information and actions" (WA 3).

"The children get a lot of attitudes through me; the adult role is very important. We talk a lot with the children on how to take care of the environment and show them how to do that through activities inside and out". (RE 4) "It is necessary to search and be updated on new information arriving on various topics. In my contract it says I shall educate myself regularly, that's my duty because my attitudes and information are vital for educating the children". (REO 2)

Challenges with practicing sustainability

"The biggest challenge is the lack of awareness of sustainable practices by the staff. Another issue is that we do not have the funds to do a lot; therefore, the easier, cheaper, and often worse solutions are used (toys that break easier and cannot be repaired). (RE 1)

"Food waste is our biggest issue. Also, it is not easy to take care of things; for example, puzzle games can break, and we have to buy new because the children explore and ruin things". (REO 3)

"Since we make our food by ecological raw materials, the biggest issue is to be aware of using all of the food and not waste it. The

children pay attention.". (WA 1)

5.1.1 Preschool teachers' perception of sustainable development

Table 3: Personal involvement with the environment

Question: "Do you personally feel you can make a difference for the environment?"	Answers		
	Yes	Unsure	No
Waldorf preschool teachers	5	0	0
Public preschool teachers	5	1	1

My first relevant question toward finding an answer to the research questions was what is your understanding of sustainable development? With a follow-up question, do you personally feel you can make a difference for the environment? Give examples? In table 3, the distribution of the answers is visualized. One from the public kindergartens did not believe they made a difference, and one was unsure, while the others believed they did impact the environment. I will present the most detailed and reflective answers.

RE 1: "Sustainable development is a broad field. It is about so much, especially regarding children and future generations. I think it is about making the kids aware of the environment. For example, they do not need to throw away everything and buy new things; it is possible to make it into something else useful. I visited a kindergarten in Italy (Reggio Emilia - famous for alternative pedagogic and the focus on environment) to learn more about recycling. Yes, I feel I can make a difference, and it is important I do for the children. I am also very politically active, and my party has environment and climate as big and central campaign focuses. I recycle at

home, try to not buy a lot of stuffs I do not need, repair clothes/things, use my bike to work or bus.".

RE 2: My understanding of sustainable development has to do with making the world a better place to live in a way so that we do not ruin it for future generations. Personally, I do feel I can do a lot for the environment. It is typical to think that you as an individual cannot make much difference for the rest of the world by doing good things for the environment, but if everybody had thought like that, how could we then make the world a better place to live for us selves and future generations. My first step is to let the car stay at home and walk or bicycle to work. "

REO 1; It is about that we should take care of nature, learn about animals and taking care of them, research shows that those taking care of the animals will project this over to adults and other kids and take care of their environment and nature. Yes, I believe I can make a difference; it is significant to be a good role model for the children"

While RE 3 and REO 3 had different views on it;

RE 3: Well, I think it is about taking care of things.

I do not believe my sustainable practices have any difference to the environment.

REO 3: It is about taking care of each other and the environment and the people coming after us. Well, I am not sure, maybe.

Regarding the replies of RE 3 and REO 3, it is not surprising that some informants have this type of view on their impact on the environment, especially since many people have this belief that what they do does not matter to the environment (Cooke & Fielding, 2010). However, both stated that sustainable development is about taking care of things and the environment as the others also said. My understanding from RE 3 and REO 3 is that they do some sustainable practices; but they do not think it impacts the environment. They also did not give specific details and did not seem to be interested in doing so.

Then there's WAs replies:

WA 2: The term is used a lot these days; it is about sustainability, looking forward, and planning

for the future and look at the consequences. Yes, I feel like I can make a difference for the environment as a consumer; we have a lot of the power. I do recycling, use Finn, use ecological food, try to minimize food waste, look at where products come from and select fair-trade products.

WA 5; It is about taking care of our planet and nature, especially when thinking about the future generations to come; It should not affect and impairs development in a negative way for the next generations. Yes, I believe I can make a difference; it has a lot to say what I think about these questions since I am the administrator and run the kindergarten. Personally, I use Finn (recycling website) a lot for purchasing products and use thrift stores. Other than that, I do recycling, not use my car everywhere and use bybanen (tram in Bergen), less food waste and save power.

WA 1; Sustainable development includes everything from the SDGs, environment, climate, ecology, justice, circular economy, taking care of animals, poverty reduction. It contains every area of society. Yes, it definitely matters, everyone can contribute. I do recycling, shop clothes and food locally. I have also engaged in environmental organizations.

WA 3; I believe it is about taking care of our local environment both people and animals. Cooperate with the local and global communities on big issues regarding nature, energy, economics, humans, animals, etc. I try to be aware of my purchases; I also have a little garden at home and I recycling and reuse stuff.

Having these "personal" broad questions in the interviews was to capture the teachers' perception and interpretation of sustainability and get a sense of their personal practices outside the kindergarten. It was interesting to gain two reactions where the informants said they were politically engaged in environmental causes. The personal aspect was captured successfully in all the interviews, where I interpreted which informants thought they impacted their environment and knew that everything evolves in sustainable development. Furthermore, it is crucial to state that everyone is different and understands concepts and things individually. However, I would argue that from these answers, it is more natural to draw a correlation from the most detailed

specific replies than the simpler, uncertain ones. The informants with detailed and reflective replies, might better understand how to perform sustainable practices in the kindergarten and are more conscious of what they do and how they do it. Also, most of them had similar thoughts regarding sustainable development but differs when giving examples. The WA teachers showed increased biospheric values than public teachers in their examples. They did so by being aware of where and how much they bought items (clothes and food), mentioned recycling, ecological food, fair trade products, food waste. In addition, they seemed to be more conscious of how they could practice sustainable practices and not harm the environment. These increased action-oriented examples have to do with it being an essential part of their pedagogy and education (Carlgren, 1978, Liebendorfer, 1997, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010). Furthermore, Rikner & Ozolins (2010) paper measuring pro-environmental behavior and biospheric values in Waldorf Teachers and public teachers in Sweden revealed a similar pattern as this study. The paper further supported other researches on this topic, "that feelings of personal responsibility in regard to environmental concerns (Kaiser et al., 1999; Kaiser & Shimoda, 1999; Montada & Kals, 2000), as well as biospheric values (Barr et al., 2005), can predict pro-environmental behavior" (p.17). This is an interesting find and will be considered in the chapter 5.2. Although REO 1, RE 2, and RE 1 also seemed to be aware of their sustainable practices but not so specific as the WA teachers. Capturing preschool teachers' perceptions and values can give a better perspective and overview of their sustainability work in kindergarten.

Research have confirmed the importance of the preschool teacher's competence and interpretations of sustainable development for the kindergarten and children's culture and quality (Alvestad & Løvberg, 2005, Davis, 2010, Hollins, 2008). Therefore, I will draw these correlations. Since every preschool teacher develops different understandings of sustainability, every kindergarten's quality will vary (Davis, 2010, Alvestad & Løvberg, 2005, Sageidet, 2014). Comparing answers from RE 1, RE 2, WA, 1, 2,3, and 5 with REO 3 and RE 3, their responses differ in their perception of sustainable development and if they make a difference to the environment.

The next chapters will reveal a better pattern on how they work with sustainability. My correlation will be stronger throughout the next chapters.

5.1.2 Teaching about sustainability

When working towards sustainability in the kindergarten, a natural question was: Do you teach children about sustainability and bring examples. In several of the statements, outdoor experiences were an important factor for connecting the children to sustainability, the environment, and taking care of it. As seen in table 4 (down below), everyone claims to teach the children about sustainability. Naturally, their methods vary and to what degree.

Table 4: Teaching children about sustainability

Question: "Do you teach the children about	Answers	
sustainability (taking care of the		
environment/sustainable practices)?"		
	Yes	No
Waldorf preschool teachers	5	0
Public preschool teachers	7	0

RE 4; Yes, we talk a lot with the children about how they can take care of their environment. We focus on recycling, not use too much paper. We have had many conversations about the garbage truck. When we visit the forest and see a lot of garbage or ruin parts in it, the children get sad and want to help repair it.

REO 2 also claims to teach the children about sustainability and taking care of the environment; Yes, we do. We have environment projects all year round, every year for the oldest children. We talk about reusing things and are conscious about using cardboard instead of plastic. Our children always pick up trash when they are outside and ask questions around why there is so much trash everywhere. Our biggest children love spending time outside; we are outside almost all day".

REO 3; Yes, we do recycling, trying to raise awareness of reuse and use less paper for drawing.

RE 3; Yes, we do as good as we can, we could be better at recycling, we try to sort glass and metal and throw it when we are on a walk and talk with children why we do this.

REO 3 and RE 3 confirm my interpretation that they do focus on sustainable practices just in a narrow way. I debate that their perception and personal sustainable practices have a somewhat link in their answers if they teach the children about sustainability. The methods to RE 3 and REO 3 had fewer examples for teaching sustainability and did not give this area high focus, just as it did not matter to the environment. This could be unfortunate since the quality of the learning culture and activities is influenced and formed by the preschool teachers' own perception of sustainable development and culture (Alvestad & Løvberg,2005, Davis,2010, Hollins, 2008, Sageidet, 2014).

WA 1 claimed that; Teaching about sustainable practices is a natural part of the Waldorf pedagogic and values for a long time, so these sustainable practices are permeated in our everyday life and have been for many decades. Our most focused areas are ecology and a green kindergarten. We also have hens and a garden which we teach the children to take care of, collect the eggs and if there were too many eggs, we sell them to parents."

WA 3, "Yes, in Waldorf pedagogic, we have focused on sustainable practices for a long time and learn the fundamentals to the children. It is important to teach the children about the compost box, reuse and take care of our things (toys, our garden, and more).

WA 4; We teach the children to take care of our hens, recycling is an everyday practice, we also have a compost box. The children use their sensory experience and rhythm in outdoor play to connect to their environment. When we go for walks, we pick up trash and talk about being in nature and the environment and taking care of it".

WA 4 belonged to a kindergarten that won an environment price. One of the criteria they met for winning the price was their environment-friendly building (materials, reused materials, and heating system). Other criteria were their hand-made toys of wood and reused toys; they also have organic short traveled food and good outdoor areas. I asked WA 4 if this type of building/materials was normal for other Waldorf kindergartens, and they answered with; *I know that some kindergartens have used the same type of material and heating system*". This was an interesting find.

Four of the Waldorf teachers highlight the importance of starting the day in an organic/sustainable way, similar to what Boyd (2018) claims. 4 out of 5 of the Waldorf kindergartens had access to a garden where they grew vegetables, herbs, and flowers. They start their day by preparing organic, locally based foods which they talked about with the children. All of the Waldorf kindergartens had compost stations, recycling was everyday practice and they claimed that sustainable practices and living has been around for decades and is nothing new. There has been a shift in generations about transferring the knowledge around the ecologic principles and nature's sensitivity, where the new generations do not get this knowledge through farming and outfield use (Sageidet, 2015, p.112). However, based on theory and information from the informants, Waldorf kindergartens transfer these principles through their pedagogic fundaments daily. They are doing so by having hens, a garden containing vegetables/herbs/flowers, which helps teach the children how nature works and how you take care of it in other terms, focusing on ecologic and nature sensitivity. This matches the fundaments from Steiner's view which he integrated in their pedagogic which transfers to the children and are a part of their adjusted framework. Also, a study assessing Waldorf schools in Sweden concluded that its students, to a great extent, became responsible and active citizens (Dahlin, 2007, Dahlin et al.,2006, Rikner & Ozolins,2010). In addition, they found that the students felt more responsibility regarding social and moral questions of society than students in public schools; this was because of their educational methods and teachers (Dahlin et al., 2006, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010, p.4). Therefore, it is natural to correlate this to Norway because of the same international principles of Waldorf pedagogy. Another reason for this correlation is that Sweden and Norway have a similar public system; therefore, it is likely this also happens to Norwegian children attending Waldorf institutions. Thus, in this study, the WA teachers have the same pattern of following Steiner's view and practicing Waldorf pedagogic, making this correlation more accurate. Still, more research is needed.

As well, the WA teachers claimed that they had hand-made wooden toys and no plastic toys inside, no harmful chemicals; they used natural materials and beeswax in various products which confirms what Froden and Wright (2018) found in their study.

These fundaments and replies from Waldorf kindergartens reveal more "advanced" integrated sustainable practices in daily life.

Moreover, similar to other responses, some preschool teachers highlighted that being outside helped the children feel connected to nature/environment.

WA 3, "The children are outside several times every day to explore and sense nature to develop a connection with it".

WA 2; We take huge responsibility of taking the children outside every day, no matter the weather, I want them to create a bond with nature and feel connected to it". We talk about how the animals live and let

them explore nature, and give increased sensory experience involving rhythm".

RE 2; "The children in my department are very used to being outside, both in the woods and in the fields. Every Tuesday, we visit new destinations, so they get used to being outdoor and used to how one treats nature. To sit inside a lot with mobile, iPad, tv, the development of love for nature is not created, nor the need to taking care of it."

RE 4: Our children are often out on trips; then, we focus on taking care of nature and animals in it. The oldest children are out several times every day; when they are outside, they are very happy.

REO 1, "Outdoor experiences help the children feel connected to it and animals. Everything we do inside we can do outside; we spend almost all day outside every day even if it is raining/bad weather, the children prefer it even".

It has been a long Norwegian tradition that preschool teachers expose children to their outdoor environment daily. This tradition has been around for decades, and the same goes for my findings regarding recycling and reusing (Lysklett, 2013, Sageidet, 2014).

The answers show a trend that outdoor experiences are valued when talking about sustainability issues to children amongst preschool teachers regardless of their background. This approves what the Ministry of Education (2017) notes about getting a good experience with outdoor activities all year, natural phenomena, and experiences belonging to nature. It also shows that they follow the kindergarten acts principle; to take care of each other, nature, and wellbeing and develop basic knowledge and skills (Kindergarten act, §1, 2010).

A follow-up question that none of the preschool teachers got to prepare for was: Have you used

Arne Næss's approach (about ecology and holistic mindset) when talking to the children? I chose to have a question like this to find out if the kindergartens in this study are inspired by Arne Næss ecological way of thinking. A reason was that It would be an interesting and varied perspective, and some of the Waldorf kindergartens already had this focus in their answer, so I did not need to ask them it. Another reason was the similarities of Steiner and Arne Næss approach with perceiving things in a holistic view, ecological self, and being a part of the web of life. The last reason for choosing this question was in order to link it with the theory of the Davis model. Four out of seven public preschool teachers had heard of Arne Næss thinking, but their answer was very vague. Several of them had to rethink and recollect in order to remember properly. The other three had not heard of him; they also claimed that they did not focus on talking with children about ecology. On the other side, Two of the four public preschool teachers that had heard about him also claimed to practice it.

RE 1: "Sometimes I focus on it when necessary or something has happened while we are out for our daily walks. For example, if we throw glass bottles around, the animals/people can hurt themselves on it; we would not want that because we care about each other. RE 4; "We are all dependent on each other, nature, animals, and people. I try to make understandable examples of this to the children". In sum, my interpretation of these statements regarding this issue is that Arne Næss ideology is not central in these particular kindergartens.

However, as shown in my example on page 29, I believe it is more common for preschool teachers to teach the children about ecology, even if they do not think of it as "teaching/learning" about ecology. Some teachers have stated that they tell the children to take care of the environment, nature, and animals. This could be looked at as a simplified way to talk about ecology with the children. Their answers might also have to do with the fact that they do not know what the term ecology is precisely about (I tried to explain it in simple words and it being a broad term). Besides, I argue it is a positive and essential fact that some public preschool teachers had heard of him and used the approach to increase the children's awareness of a sustainable mindset and actions, as Bjørndal and Lieberg (1975) claim vital.

Four out of five Waldorf preschool teachers mentioned their focus on ecology without me asking it. Therefore, I chose to ask the fifth if she did; she confirmed and said every day.

WA 5; Our children experience being a part of the cycle; we grow food and then harvest and prepare it in our foods then recycle or use it the next day, the children are always involved.

Moreover, WA 4 said; We teach the children to take care of the hens. Our food waste goes to the hens, and we use their eggs in, for example, baking, and we have talked about that we rely on the hens to bake. My interpretation of WA 4 and 5 and other similar responses from Waldorf teachers is that the children experience the cycles every day and understand that they must take care of it to get goods back from it and maintain/care for it.

To connect these replies with Davis (1998, 2010) model on education *in*, *for*, and *about* the environment, there is a pattern for all of them to the preschool teachers in various degrees. Education *about* the environment is much more focused in the Waldorf kindergartens than in the public kindergartens. This has to do with the foundations of Steiner's values from 1924 on ecology and regenerative gardening and a holistic perspective on how the world works that permeate through their pedagogic practices (Steiner, 1924). Also, all the Waldorf teachers claim that the children are with them preparing local organic food, gardening/ reaping, exposure to natural elements, and learning about how these cycles are processed.

However, it must not be forgotten that two of the public preschool teachers used education *about* the environment. It is better than none, but preferably a higher number of preschool teachers should be more mindful of education *about* the environment.

On the other hand, all the preschool teachers in this study seem to focus on education *in* and *for* the environment. Education *in* the environment focuses on the direct experiences with the environment and the development of positive feelings and attitudes toward nature (Davis, 1998, Giske et al., 2010, Ministries, 2004, Mjaavatn & Fjørtoft, 2008, Sandseter, 2010). The preschool teachers expose the children to outdoor environments every day for several hours and talk about nature and its elements. Another important implication to education *in* the environment is the increased concept of connectedness to nature for both adults and children. It's done, amongst other things, by teaching about plants and animals' needs, their habitat, and how to reduce, reuse and recycle materials used to keep ecosystems linked to forests and water (Gadotti, 2010,p.232), which the informants claim to do in various methods. Outdoor activities help promote environmental concern and pro-sustainable behaviour (Sahin & Alici, 2019, Nisbet et al., 2009, Shultz, 2002,). Since theory (Lieflander et al, 2013, Heggen et al., 2019, Chawla, 2006, 2007) confirms that outdoor experiences can increase positive and pro-environmental action and attitudes to nature/environment, I argue that this is a reliable method for sustainability work. The

kindergartens in this study are lucky to have nature close and around them and being outdoor every day is highly valued.

Though, outdoor/farming kindergartens spend from 60-80% of their day outside every day regardless of the weather (according to REO 1,2 and 3). REO 2 similarly claimed as REO 1 that they personally loved being outside a lot which helped create a connection to nature. Two of the outdoor preschool teachers claimed the children preferred being outside, which I argue shows their increased connectedness to nature. REO 1 also claimed that; *the staff at outdoor kindergartens has to like being outside a lot in order to work there*". Therefore, I debate increased connectedness for nature applies to the adults working in outdoor/farming kindergartens. Even if they have not claimed it, all the preschool teachers in this study are outside several times daily; connectedness would naturally apply to them.

Finally, related to education *for* the environment, all the preschool teachers address this to some extent; some of them are naturally more engaged and have more knowledge around sustainable practices than others. Their perception and sustainable approaches have a somewhat link in their answers if they teach the children about sustainability and their detailed methods.

To no surprise, everyone claimed to do some recycling which is a normal practice in Norwegian kindergartens and has been for decades (Sageidet, 2014). The one kindergarten I got to visit was where RE 1 belonged. They showed me some of the children's environmental projects, food plans, garbage/sorting bins, and reused/repaired toys after the interview. RE 1 had personally bought a book where children would color the items that did not belong in the woods, sea, and land. Their sustainability approaches corresponded with the response RE 1 had given. Unfortunately, I did not get to visit more kindergartens, that would have given me a better perspective on their sustainable practices.

More "advanced" sustainable approaches like reuse and repair of toys, no plastic toys inside, recycling stations, own produced food, focus on ecology, control on food waste, compost box and environmental projects/visuals methods varied from teacher and kindergartens of this study, whereas I claim the Waldorf teachers are one step ahead.

5.1.3 Learning in social context

Another aspect regarding working with sustainability in kindergarten was the pattern of learning in a social context. 9 out of 12 preschool teachers claimed that sustainable practices are learned in a social context. The informant's replied;

WA 1; We should be role models for the children; they watch what we do and learn from it. Several co-workers are engaged in environmental organizations like I am, which transforms through to the children.

WA 4; Many people applying for work in Waldorf kindergartens have an above-average interest in the environment and nature. Thus, our children learn from our personal attitudes and interests towards sustainable practices

WA 3; similarly stated; What preoccupies me transfers over to the others in the kindergarten. The adults are very important, and the quality of the staff. Adults are role models for the children; they mimic what we provide of information and actions". Our staff has increased focus on utilizing resources; some are better at food waste, recycling, reuse, and gardening.

REO 1; It is very important to be a good role model. For example, I clean up after myself. The children see and learn by what I do. In addition, the children learn to care for nature and animals in it.

RE 2; Considering my job in kindergarten, I feel that I have a very important task, specifically, to be a good role model for the little ones. We help to form them as human beings. We need to inform, learn and show what to do for our planet, and if children are used to it from an early age, it is much easier to get children to grow up to love nature and that they end up as people who want to take care of it. After all, they are the future, and we need them to reach later goals.

RE 4 "The children receive attitudes through me; the adult role is very important. We talk a lot with the children on how to take care of the environment and show them how to do that through activities inside and out".

REO 2; "It is necessary to search and be updated on new information arriving on various topics. In my contract, it says I shall educate myself regularly; that is my duty because my attitudes, values, and information are important for educating the children".

These statements from the preschool teachers, reveal that they are aware of their attitudes and values towards the children. They highlight their behavior as a crucial aspect for the children. This in order for quality learning processes and activities to happen in the social context (Bell, 2016, Sageidet et al., 2019). I believe this is crucial for the children how their preschool teachers' perceptions and attitudes form the children and learn sustainable practices.

It further confirms Vygotzky's (1986) theory that learning processes happen increases when it happens when interacting with others. Several of the informants also emphasizes that their support and love for children is fundamental in the kindergarten, and this could be another key for sustainable attitudes and behavior, which is confirmed by various scholars (Deci & Ryan, 2001, Johansson, 2001, Frønes, 2007, Schreiner, 2006, Sageidet, 2014).

There was revealed a pattern from their responses that adults are role models. Hence, Teachers' roles are of high priority in the kindergarten act, by the Ministry of Education and in the Waldorf pedagogic (Ministry of Education, 2017, Kindergarten act, §1, 2010, Loebell 2017, Rawson, 2018, Boyd, 2018, Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018). The Ministry of Education (2017) describes this as kindergarten teachers are trained to fulfill tasks assigned to the kindergartens and be good role models.

Preschool teachers have a large task in promoting values, attitudes, and practices for more sustainable societies (UNESCO, 2005, Bell, 2016, Hagser & Elliot, 2017). Particularly considering that research done on how children's brain development in early years shows that environmental factors such as the child's quality of care and interaction can have a long-lasting effect on its development (Young, 2002). In light of theory and the teacher's answers, it further strengthens the effect of preschool teachers' perception to raise responsible individuals. Another question I asked the informants was, "Do you use the framework plan or the 17 sustainability goals consciously in your pedagogical work with children about sustainable development, and if you do, how?". A question like that could be an indicator for sustainable practices in the social context. Also, the united nations (2015) argue that it is vital that the children learn about the SDGs early on. However, none of the preschool teachers used the goals consciously in their work, and some had never heard of them. On the other hand, all of them claimed to use the framework in their work. Several claimed it was vital to follow it and use it in their pedagogical work. Since the goals are highly related to the kindergarten act and regularly updated to new standards, I argue they use the goals just not consciously. "The kindergarten shall

be based on fundamental values... such as respect for human dignity and nature, intellectual freedom, charity, forgiveness, equality, and solidarity...rooted in human rights" (Kindergarten act, §1,2010). This statement relates to the goals of 4 (quality education), 5 (gender equality), 10 (reduced inequalities),16 (peace and justice).

Also, the act aims at; "Learn to take care of themselves, each other and nature. The kindergarten must meet the children with trust and respect and recognize the intrinsic value of childhood. It will contribute to well-being and joy in play and learning and be a challenging and safe place for community and friendship" (Kindergarten act, §1,2010). Correlated SDGs for these aims are 3 (good health and well-being), 11 (sustainable cities and communities), 12 (responsible consumption), 13 (climate action), 14 (life below water), 15 (life on land), 16 (peace and justice). Thus, in a way, by following the act, one also follows the SDGs.

Furthermore, while I conducted the interviews, there was an event called Kindergarten day - small steps for the globe. This day is to talk about sustainability and the environment and do mini projects that focus on these issues.

However, not all kindergartens in this study felt the need to make a big event out of this day. For example, none of the Waldorf kindergartens had a "focus" on this day. Three of the Waldorf preschool teacher had similar response as to why not. WA 2 stated; *We focused on these issues* for a long time before it was "popular," it is not a day we set of for these issues; we focus on it every day." We even fulfill the certification to green flags, but to be honest, it is too much work in order for us to participate in it." This confirms again what the rest of the WA teachers said about sustainable practices as a part of their daily practice.

On the other hand, five out of seven public preschool teachers focused on this day. How much effort they made of the event varied from just putting a poster up to others working on artwork, visuals (looking at a film), and talking about it in groups. The two public kindergartens that did not focus on this day did not give any reasons why not. It did not seem like they were interested in giving reasons.

Of course, it is positive to have a day set for this type of focus every year. Still, I argue it should be a daily focus in kindergartens, especially when ECEfS theory and research show how critical it is to teach children about these issues. Another aspect to why it is important to integrate these issues in everyday life is that in the early years of childhood, one lays down the basis for later learning (Perez-Ferra et al., 2020, Young, 2002, Boyd, 2018). And preschool age is the most

favorable age to start lay this basis for sustainability and natural connections (Lamekhova, 2020).

5.1.4 Challenges with practicing sustainability

To find challenges for practicing sustainable work, I chose to question the informants about challenges for sustainable approaches. It is also an important aspect toward sustainability work in kindergartens to see where one can find obstacles.

RE 1; The biggest challenge is the lack of knowledge toward sustainable practices by the staff. Another issue is that we do not have the funds to do a lot; therefore, the easier, cheaper, and often worse solutions are used (toys that break easier and cannot be repaired).

RE 2; I would say it is food waste; we throw away an incredible amount of food. Under this pandemic, we use too much cardboard. The children draw a lot, and we educators print too many sheets for meetings, etc.

RE 3; We could have more focus on recycling. We could be better at that. It would help if we had someone who was engaged in environmental issues or got more information.

RE 4; The adult role is a challenge regarding time, competence, and getting people motivated to increase sustainable practices.

REO 1; Some challenges are having the rest of the staff on board when practicing sustainability.

REO 2; The hardest part is food waste and recycling all the time.

REO 3; Food waste and not buying new stuff, trying to reuse. We need more knowledge.

WA 1; Since we prepare all the food, food waste can be an issue, and we try being conscious about using it later. The children pay attention to see that we do not throw away food.

WA 2; The biggest issue is recycling food waste because, in Trondheim, it is nonexistent; everything goes in residual waste.

WA 4; Economy is an issue - we closed for some time due to corona, and some of the food expired. Another issue is to have an overview and planning of food before the holidays.

Based on the information received, several of the issues are similar and seemingly a problem.

Whereas food waste, recycling, lack of interested staff, economy is recurring. Interestingly, RE 3

WA 5; We could be better at recycling; also, Bergen commune is not the best on it.

and REO 3 highlighted that it would help gain more knowledge and staff engaged in environmental issues. The reason why it is interesting is that their perception of their own sustainable approaches does not matter. I interpret that their lack of sustainable development knowledge can explain their little interest and focus on teaching children about sustainability. RE 1 and REO 3 also highlighted a lack of knowledge from the rest of their staff. Therefore, it would be beneficial to receive courses regarding environmental education or sustainable practices for greener kindergartens. This issue will be further discussed down below. I also had a question about if the preschool teachers had about sustainable development in their education. The older participants had no courses that focused on it when they took their degree, while the younger participants had a little more focus on it. RE 2 said; We have probably had a little about it, but there has not been much focus on it. Apart from the fact that it is in the framework plan, I know we will focus on it throughout the children's kindergarten year. Moreover, REO 1; We have had little about it. RE 4; We had natural science course, although I cannot remember that we talked specifically about sustainable development or sustainable practices. It should have been more about it. RE 4, RE 2, and REO 1 went out of the university within a five-year framework. This is an interesting find because, in the framework, it is claimed and emphasized that preschool education has about sustainable development (Ministry of Education, 2017, Kindergarten act, §1, 2010). And for this study, it did not seem that there was much focus on this area in their education. Fortunately, though, this information cannot apply to others than the participants in this study. Throughout universities in the country, their practices toward sustainable development in preschool education differ. I believe this depends on what

their professor is focusing on in their course, and this varies from each professor teaching the courses. Also, sustainable development had no long-lasting effect on them from their statements even if they had about it. I argue that it would be a good start to give the preschool teachers formal environmental education or course on these issues for more efficient and better sustainable practices. For example, the state or commune could regularly give them updated courses on various subjects that would refresh their memory and increase their knowledge. This is especially true since kindergartens play an important role in promoting values, sustainable communities, and practices (Ministry of Education and Research, 2017).

On the other hand, All the Waldorf teachers had focus on it in their education.

WA 1; In my 5-year degree, sustainability is permeated throughout the courses because of our values and attitudes. The main focus has been on ecology, nature, and the environment and having a green kindergarten. In arts and craft, we learned and talked about taking care of things and how to repair them".

WA 4; In our education and the pedagogic, it is fundamental to focus on nature and the environment and have been for a long time.

WA 3; Yes, there was a focus in my education, especially on short-traveled food. Our pedagogical courses are similar to the public ones, but we also have different areas of focus.

WA 2; We focused on it in my time (decades ago), but I know it is even more now.

WA 5; Yes, in my master's degree, we had about nature, ecology, and the environment and looked at it with a holistic perspective, in line with Steiner's view.

Their answers show that they have a big focus on sustainable development. It further shows that it has been in their higher degree education (they attend pure Waldorf universities) for decades, even more focus today than before. The statements also show why they have more focus on "advanced" sustainable practices within their kindergartens and increased teaching "about" the environment than the public kindergartens. This is because they learned about it in their education to a higher degree than the public ones. Three reasons for these differences are first, the fundaments from a holistic Steiner's view on ecology and nature are permeated in Waldorf education (different subjects and focus areas than the public preschool education). There seem to be some sociocultural differences between WA (Steiner view) and public teachers. Second reason

is WAs focus on arts and crafting to repair and build their things in natural materials (learned in their education). The third reason is that when they have increased knowledge and interest about these issues, it is easier to work with them in kindergarten and teach the children.

Furthermore, I asked should employees in the kindergarten receive a formal education/course in environmental education?

All informants did not see any issue in receiving some course or formal education on environmental education. On the contrary, some of them encouraged it and hoped they would receive it. Three of the WA teachers said that through the Steinerfederation, they meet at yearly conferences where they receive information on sustainability and other topics. All the WA teachers claimed that after the pandemic, they got offered online courses on sustainable development, as WA 3 stated; After Covid-19, there are more and more online courses. Two of the WA teachers claimed to have taken courses on nutrition/gardening and food waste. I did not receive any information about it from the public teachers that they had such a thing as the WA teachers. However, given earlier statements and theory, it shows the importance of quality education to meet challenges and practice sustainable green communities, and preschool teachers being important role models in the field of ECEfS (Ministry of Education, 2017, Boyd, 2018, Bell, 2016, Davis, 2010).

5.2 Summarizing discussion

First, I will answer the first research question and summarize the main differences. Then I will briefly summarize and answer the second question.

How do early childhood teachers work with sustainability, in kindergartens with Waldorf pedagogy, and in public kindergartens, and what are the main differences?

The QCA analysis (see table 2, p.42) revealed codes on how childhood teachers work with sustainability in kindergartens. Besides, the chapters above have illustrated in detail how they work with sustainability in the different categories and similarities with challenges. However, the main differences from their work will now be summarized and discussed, and I will use inductive reasoning when answering these main differences.

1) The first main difference attained from the empirical findings was the preschool teachers' perception of sustainable development with examples. The WA teachers tend to have increased biospheric values than the public teachers from their examples. WA teachers appeared to be more

conscious of why and how they could practice sustainable approaches. This difference had to do with their action-oriented part from their pedagogy, education, and personal values (Carlgren, 1978, Liebendorfer, 1997, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010, Van der Werff et al., 2013, Nguyen et al., 2016). Besides, it has also been confirmed by another research paper done on Waldorf teachers measuring pro-environmental behavior and biospheric values in Sweden (Barr et al., 2005, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010). Therefore, I argue in line with the theory that it reveals that WA teachers seem to have increased pro-environmental behavior. Of course, this is not to say that none of the public teachers in this study do not have pro-environmental behaviors because they do to some extent which is a positive aspect. However, the public teachers seemed to have lower biospheric values when comparing replies, RE 1 and RE 2, with REO 3 and RE 3 and WA teachers, we can see a difference. Capturing these beliefs and examples reveals a better perspective and overview of sustainability practices in both public and Waldorf kindergartens (Alvestad & Løvberg, 2005, Davis, 2010, Hollins, 2008).

2) The second main difference regarding working with sustainability was how they taught children about it. Everyone claimed to teach the children about sustainability. The examples were similar to some extent regarding outdoor experiences, picking up trash, recycling to reuse. However, the WA teachers tended to start their day in a conscious organic/sustainable way with, for example, local organic foods, access to a garden, recycling, using compost station, using hand-made wooden toys, and no plastic toys. They consciously transfer the ecologic principles and nature's sensitivity by teaching the children how nature works and taking care of it. Also, here the WA teachers reveal more advanced integrated sustainable approaches in daily life. They emphasized that it had been a fundamental holistic part of their schedule for decades and was nothing new, confirmed by Boyd (2018). On the other side, the public preschool teachers did not reveal the same information as the WA teachers. Therefore, it is harder to make solid correlations. My interpretation is that teaching children about sustainable approaches is not nearly as focused on their daily lives as WA teachers.

I connected this with Davis model on education *in*, *for*, and *about* the environment (Davis, 1998, 2010). Which revealed that everyone focused on education *in* and *for* the environment, but WA teachers focused more *about* the environment consciously than public teachers. This confirms that the WA teachers follow and work the fundaments of Steiner's view and the adjusted framework, which they claimed they did. They recognize that humans, animals, nature, and the

whole earth are an ecosystem and interdependent (Kjensli & Rise- Knutsen, 2018, Steiner, 1924, Loebell, 2017, Rawson, 2018). This difference is also due to their Waldorf education, emphasizing sustainable development in line with Steiner's original view.

3) The third main difference was that all the WA teachers received online courses on sustainable development to keep their knowledge updated regularly through the Steinerfederation. These courses contribute to it being easier to know how to work with sustainability in kindergarten and teach the children. The public preschool teachers did not reveal any information that they had received similar courses, which should be investigated. These empirical findings in light of theory show that Waldorf kindergartens in this study focus more on sustainable practices than the public ones, even if they are under the same Norwegian government framework.

Which elements from the Waldorf pedagogy may enrich early childhood education for sustainability?

- 1) The first element that could enrich the field of ECEfS is to learn more about Waldorf pedagogical framework. The Waldorf environment felt the need to create an adjusted framework to fill in gaps they needed which the common Norwegian framework did not cover. Moreover, look deeper into why they created it and what they teach the children from it.
- 2) A second element is to investigate their educational history and subjects in Waldorf degrees. For example, the Waldorf teachers in this study show increased biospheric values and proenvironmental behavior and action, stemming from their educational background (Carlgren, 1978, Liebendorfer, 1997, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010, Van der Werff et al., 2013, Nguyen et al., 2016).

Furthermore, their pedagogical approach correlates to their focus on teaching more *about* the environment than the public preschool teachers in this study. The reason for this is because their fundaments built on a holistic and ecological focus with sustainable approaches permeated through the Waldorf approach. Davis (1998, 2010) claims it is important to teach more *about* the environment to the children from a young age.

3) A third element is that they do not focus on a one-sided cognitive view regarding knowledge and how children learn and develop. Instead, they consider all forms of knowledge activated, such as emotional, social, and cultural parts when learning. Indeed, they look at the child as

unique and must evolve to their best self and an ongoing life process (Kjensli & Rise-Knutsen, 2018, Steiner, 1924, Loebell, 2017, Rawson, 2018). These elements also contain smaller elements as presented such as increased biospheric values and pro environmental behaviour and action. Waldorf pedagogy has a special focus on preschool teachers as important role models and the traits mentioned are essential for children to learn. Especially since the study done in Waldorf schools in Sweden concluded that its students became more responsible citizens than their public peers. Also, they felt more responsibility to social and moral questions of society due to their educational methods and teachers (Dahlin, 2007, Dahlin et al., 2006, Rikner & Ozolins, 2010). My findings also confirm that the Waldorf teachers in this study show more responsibility and critical reflection on social and moral questions related to environmental issues.

Therefore, I argue that the Waldorf approach profoundly impacts its students, and the Swedish study can naturally apply to Norwegian Waldorf institutions. In addition, I claim that these elements from the Waldorf approach presented are justified to enrich the field of ECEfS. However, it is important to keep in mind that the discussions above pertain to the preschool teachers in this study and cannot be generalized for all Waldorf or public kindergartens in Norway. Still, there is a trend.

Beyond this research question, I may add that this study also revealed that even if the funding seemed like a challenge for several public kindergartens, they tried their best to focus on sustainability approaches despite this fact.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

6.1 Conclusion

This study has addressed the topic of sustainability work in ECEfS, which tries to inform and transform the education system and is continuously evolving. Besides, this thesis is built on the history and theory of Waldorf and the Norwegian framework and principles with a social constructionist point of view.

It also showed the importance of sustainability as a concept of performing sustainable approaches and knowledge from preschool age to meet future consequences and demands. In addition, this paper tried to give a piece in the limited literature and research into sustainability work in Waldorf kindergartens, comparing it with the public kindergartens.

Furthermore, the study done on Waldorf teachers in Sweden seem to underline earlier research and strengthen the hypothesis; *The Waldorf kindergartens focuses more on sustainable practices than the public approach, even if they are under the same Norwegian government framework.*Which also assisted in the creation of the research questions for this study. *How do early childhood teachers work with sustainability, in kindergartens with Waldorf pedagogy, and in public kindergartens, and what are the main differences?*

In order to answer the research question, this study conducted twelve qualitative interviews from public and Waldorf kindergartens, using relevant theory and QCA analysis, which revealed patterns and codes for sustainability work.

These four categories revealed how the preschool teachers worked with sustainability:

- 1) Preschool teachers' perception of sustainable development
- 2) Teaching about sustainability
- 3) Learning in social contexts
- 4) Challenges with practicing sustainability

With this in mind, the study further revealed that preschool teaches in Waldorf kindergartens have increased biospheric values than the public teachers. It further revealed that teaching about sustainability was similar *in* and *for* the environment, but the biggest difference was teaching *about* the environment. Another difference was that Waldorf preschool teachers received online courses on sustainable approaches and were updated regularly through the Steinerfederation. Finally, I will present two simplified overviews of the main differences found and potential Waldorf elements enriching the field of ECEfS.

- 1) Sociocultural difference. Waldorf preschool teachers have increased biospheric values leading to pro-environmental behavior and action-oriented teaching.
- 2) Their fundamental holistic pedagogy values and their specific Waldorf education lead to increased conscious teaching *about* the environment.

3) All WA teachers claimed to have received online courses from the Steinerfederation, keeping their knowledge updated regularly.

Which elements from the Waldorf pedagogy may enrich early childhood education for sustainability?

- 1) The Waldorf pedagogical strong focus on teaching *about* the environment and its focus on holistic, ecological, and sustainable approaches.
- 2) Research the educational history and subjects in Waldorf degrees. Also, their increased biospheric values and pro-environmental behaviors and actions
- 3) All forms of knowledge activated, no one-sided cognitive view to obtaining knowledge and how children learn and develop.

This thesis has revealed several ways to work with sustainability; it shows a correlation between preschool teachers' perception and sustainable practices. Also, it shows that the preschool teachers' knowledge and values are vital in performing sustainable practices for the children and are central role models. Therefore, quality education is essential for both adults and children.

6.2 Limitations

The first limitation is to properly quality check a kindergarten; one needs to observe it and have a professional overview of the quality in how their pedagogical practices are performed (Haugset, 2019). However, this overview is problematic in a pandemic where kindergartens work with half-staff and strict visiting rules. Unfortunately, I only got to visit one kindergarten in my commune. Therefore, I chose to interview different kindergartens in the country to get a broader analysis of their approaches.

A second limitation is that this research conducted twelve interviews, and this sample size is not nearly enough to generalize how preschool teachers work with sustainability in kindergartens.

A third limitation is that there might be some biased interpretations from the researcher because of inductive reasoning in chapter 5 and from the interviews. This reason could also have affected the preparation of the questions from the interview guide.

6.3 Suggestions for future research

This study revealed challenges and insight regarding work with sustainability and how the Waldorf approach could enrich ECEfS.

The first suggestion is to research more into the Waldorf sustainability approach because there is missing information on this topic. For example, conduct interviews and visit Waldorf kindergartens throughout the country. Besides, it could be worth investigating how the Steinerfederation organizes and execute the courses and conferences offered to their community. Hence, also looking at sustainability work in public kindergartens.

A second suggestion is that preschool teachers should routinely receive online courses on sustainable practices (food waste, ecology, consumption habits, gardening, etc.) to increase their knowledge and refresh their memory on these issues. These courses should come from the state and commune and be open for everyone since kindergartens are commune and state governed. The final suggestion is to capture the beliefs and perceptions of preschool teachers when doing ECEfS research since this is highly valued and correlated with revealed pro-environmental behavior and action, which potentially can show more sustainable practices.

References

Abbas, Z. (2020). The role of teaching methods in promoting environmental education in kindergarten: A comparative analysis of Turkey and Norway. Retrieved from: https://uis.brage.unit.no/uis-xmlui/handle/11250/2717107

Aftenposten. (2019). Skolestreik for klimaet(School strike for the climate). Retrieved from: https://www.aftenposten.no/meninger/kommentar/i/GGOJ29/i-dag-er-det-skolestreik-for-klimaet-igjen-denne-gangen-boer-barna-bli

Agenda 21. (1992). Agenda 21. UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Division for Sustainable Development. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/documents/agenda21/english/agenda21toc.htm.

Alvestad, T. & Løvberg, R. (2005). "The kindergarten in change, what do preschool teachers think about that?" Norwegian pedagogical journal, 5:345-54.

Antwi, S., & Kasim, H. (2015). Qualitative and Quantitative Research Paradigms in Business Research: A Philosophical Reflection. European Journal of Business and Management.

Ärlemalm-Hagsér, E., Elliott, S. (2017) Special Issue: Contemporary Research on Early Childhood Education for Sustainability. IJEC 49, 267–272 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007

Ashley, M. (2009). Education for freedom. The goal of Steiner/Waldorf schools. In P. A. Woods & G. J. Woods (Eds.), Alternative education for the 21st century: Philosophies, approaches, visions (pp. 209–225). New York: Palgrave Macmillan

Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is Qualitative in Qualitative Research. Qualitative Sociology, 42(2), 139-160. doi:10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7

Avison, K., and M. Rawson. (2016). The Tasks and Content of the Steiner – Waldorf Curriculum. Edinburgh: Floris Books

Barr, S., Gilg, A.W., & Ford, N. (2005). The household energy gap: examining the divide between habitual- and purchase-related conservation behaviours. Energy Policy, 33, 1425-1444

Bashir, M., Afzal, M. T., & Azeem, M. (2008). Reliability and Validity of Qualitative and Operational Research Paradigm. Pakistan Journal of Statistics and Operation Research, 4(1), 35-45. https://doi.org/10.18187/pjsor.v4i1.59

Beck, C. T. (1993) 'Qualitative research: the evaluation of its credibility', Western Journal of Nursing Research, 15, 2, 263-6.

Beery, T. (2012). Nordic in nature: friluftsliv and environmental connectedness. Environmental Education Research - ENVIRON EDUC RES, 19, 1-24. doi:10.1080/13504622.2012.688799

Bergan, V. (2019). Hvordan kan økologisk dyrking bidra til bevissthet for bærekraft? In V. Bergan & K. E. W. Bjørndal (Eds.), Bærekraft i praksis i barnehagen (pp. 99-114). Oslo: Universitetsfor-lage

Bell, D.V.J. (2016). Twenty-first century education: Transformative education for sustainability and responsible citizenship. Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability, 18(1), 48-56. https://doi.org/10.1515/jtes-2016-0004

Bjørgen, K. (2015). Children's Wellbeing and involvement in physically active outdoors play in Norwegian kindergarten: Playful sharing of physical experiences. Retrieved from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2015.1051512

Bjørndal, B, Lieberg, S. (1975), Innføring i økopedagogikk(Introduction to eco-pedagogy). En studiebok for lærere(A study guide for teachers). Oslo: Aschehoug

Blaikie, N. (2010). Designing Social Research 2nd ed., Cambridge: Polity Press.

Boyd, D. (2018), Early Childhood Education for Sustainability and the legacies of two pioneering giants. Rettrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2018.1442422

Breiting, S. (2011). Et paradigmeskift for miljøundervisning – på vej mod Uddannelse for Bæredyg-dig Udvikling.(A paradigm shift for environmental education - on the way to Education for Sustainable Development.) In K. Kragh Blume Dahl, J. Læssøe & V. Simovska (Eds.) Essays om dannelse, didaktik og handlekompetanse – inspirert af Karsten Schnack (pp. 93-104). Institutt for Didaktik, Danmarks Pædagogiske Universitetsskole, Århus Universitet.

Brannen, J. (Ed.). (2017). Mixing methods: Qualitative and quantitative research. Routledge

Børhaug, K. (2016). Different owners - different views on learning? In K.H. Moen, K.-Å. Gotvassli & P.T. Granrusten (ed.), Kindergarten as a learning arena. Between Governance and Management (pp. 107–24). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

Børhaug, K. & Lotsberg, D.Ø. (2012). Institutional conditions for competition between public and private service providers in the day care sector. Nordic Organizational Studies, 14 (2), 27–48.

Carlgren, F. (1978). Waldorfpedagogiken – en framtidsmodell? [The Waldorf pedagogy- a model for the future?]. Falun, Sweden: Dala-Offset AB.

Cavana, R., Delahaye, B., & Sekeran, U. (2001). Applied Business Research: Qualitative and Quantitative Methods.

Cavanagh, S. (1997). Content analysis: concepts, methods and applications. Nurse Researcher, 4(3), 5-16

Chapple, A. (1999). The use of telephone interviewing for qualitative research. Nurse Researcher 6, 85 - 93, Retrieved from Journals OVID.

Chawla, L. (2006). Learning to love the natural world enough to protect it. Barn, 2, 57-78.

Chawla, L. (2007). Childhood experiences associated with care for the natural world: A theoretical framework for empirical results. Children, Youth & Environments, 17(4), 144-170. doi: 10.7721/chilyoutenvi.17.4.0144

Cooke, Anna & Fielding, Kelly (2010). Fun environmentalism! Potential contributions of autonomy supportive psychology to sustainable lifestyles. Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal, 21

Corden, A. Sainsbury, R. (2006). Using verbatim quotations in reporting qualitative social research: researchers views. Retrieved from: 10.1080/13645570600595264

Dahlin, B. (2007). The Waldorf school – cultivating humanity? A report from an evaluation of Waldorf Schools in Sweden. Karlstad University, Sweden: Faculty of Arts and Education.

Dahlin, B., Liljeroth, I., & Nobel, A. (2006). Waldorfskolan-en skola för människobildning? Slutrapport från projektet Waldorfskolor i Sverige. [The Waldorf School –a school for human education?] Sweden: Karlstad University Studies.

Davis, J. (1998). Young Children, Environmental Education, and the Future. Early Childhood Education Journal, 26. doi:10.1023/A:1022911631454

Davis, J. (2009). Revealing the research 'hole' of early childhood education for sustainability: A preliminary survey of the literature. Environmental Education Research, 15(2), 227–241.

Davis. (2010). Young children and the Environment – Early education for Sustainability. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Davis, J., & Elliot, S. (2014). Research in early childhood education for sustainability: International perspectives and provocations. London: Routledge

Deci, E.L. and Ryan, R, M. (2000). "The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behaviour". Psychological Inquiry, 11(4): 227-68.

Denzin, Norman K., and Yvonna S. Lincoln. 2005. Introduction. The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In the Sage handbook of qualitative research, ed. Norman K. Denzin and Yvonna S. Lincoln, 1–32. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.

Dodge, R., Daly, A. P., Huyton, J., & Sanders, L. D. (2012). The challenge of defining wellbeing. International Journal of Wellbeing, 2(3), 222–235.

Downe-Wamboldt, B. (1992). Content analysis: Method, applications, and issues. Health Care for Women International, 13, 313-321.

Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample Size Policy for Qualitative Studies Using In-Depth Interviews. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41(6), 1319-1320. doi:10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6

Eilam, E. & Trop, T. (2010). ESD pedagogy: A guide for the perplexed. The Journal of Environmental Education, 42(1), 43-64. doi:10.1080/00958961003674665

Elliott, S., Ärlemalm-Hagsèr, E., & Davis, J. (2020). Researching early childhood education for sustainability: Challenging assumptions and orthodoxies. Abingdon, Oxon; Routledge.

Engdahl, I. (2015). Early Childhood Education for Sustainability: The OMEP World Project. Sweden. Retrieved from: DOI 10.1007/s13158-015-0149-6

Engdahl, I. Rabusicova, M. (2011). Children's Voices About the State of the Earth. Retrieved from: DOI 10.1007/s13158-011-0031-0

Erlingsson, C. Brysiewicz, P. (2017). A hands-on guide to doing content analysis. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.afjem.2017.08.001

Erten, S. (2005). Okul öncesi öğretmen adaylarında çevre dostu davranışların araştırılması. Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 28(28).

Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. American journal of theoretical and applied statistics, 5(1), 1-4.

Feather, N. T. (1995). Values, valences, and choice: The influences of values on the perceived attractiveness and choice of alternatives. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 68, 1135-1151. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.68.6.1135

Fisher, D. Brettel, M. Mauer, R. (2018). The Three Dimensions of Sustainability: A Delicate Balancing Act for Entrepreneurs Made More Complex by Stakeholder Expectations. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-4012-1

Fjørtoft, I. (2001). The Natural Environment as a Playground for Children: The Impact of Outdoor Play Activities in Pre-Primary School Children. Early Childhood Education Journal, 29(2), 111-117

Froden, S. Wright, M V. (2018). The Waldorf Kindergarten. Retrieved from: DOI 10.1007/978-94-024-0927-7_72

Frønes, I. (1998) De likeverdige. Om sosialisering og de jevnaldrendes betydning (On equal level. About socialization and the significance of the age peers). Oslo. Universitetsforlaget.

Frønes, 1. (2007) Moderne barndom (Modern childhood). 2. Utgave, Oslo: Cappelen, p. 166

Gadotti, M. (2010). ESD and Education for All: synergies and potential conflicts. International Review of Education, 56, 221-234. doi:10.1007/s11159-010-9158-8

Galletta, A. (2013). Mastering the Semi-Structured Interview and Beyond: From Research Design to Analysis and Publication. New York University Press

Gentles, S.J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J. & McKibbon, K.A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. The Qualitative Report, 20(11), 1772-1789.

Giddens, A. (1991) Modernity and Self-identity. Self and Society in the Late Modern Age. Cambridge: Policy Press.

Giske, R., Tjensvoll, M., & Dyrstad, S. M. (2010). Physical activity in kindergarten: A case study on daily physical activity among 5 years children. Journal of Nordic Early Childhood Educational Research, 3(2), 53–62.

Goga, N., Guanio-Uluru, L., Hallås, B. O. & Nyrnes, A. (Eds.) (2018). Ecocritical Perspectives on Children's Texts and Cultures. Nordic Dialogues. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Guest, G., Bunce, A. and Johnson, L. (2006), "How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability", Field Methods, Vol. 18 No. 1, pp. 59-82.

Gulbrandsen, L. Eliassen, E. (2013). Kvalitet I barnehager: Rapport fra en undersøkelse av strukturell kvalitet høsten 2012(Quality in kindergartens: Report from a survey of structural quality in the autumn of 2012). Retrieved from: https://www.nb-ecec.org/no/artikler/post-12293629

Gullaker, H.(2018). Sosiokulturelt perspektiv på læring(Sociocultural perspective on learning). Retrieved from: https://sosiokulturelteori.wordpress.com/2018/11/03/sosiokulturelt-perspektiv-pa-laering/#comments

Grahn, P., Mårtensson, F., Lindblad, B., Nilsson, P., & Ekman, A (1997).UTE PÅ DAGIS. Stad & Land nr. 45. Alnarp: Movium, Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet.

Greenhalgh, T. and Taylor, R. (1997) 'How to read a paper: papers that go beyond numbers (Qualitative Research)', British Medical Journal, 315, 740-43.

Hansen Ebbestad, J.E. (2019). Rudolf Steiner. Retrieved from: https://snl.no/Rudolf Steiner

Haugset, A S. (2019). Does Public or Private Ownership Affect Quality in Norwegian Kindergartens? Retrieved from: DOI: https://doi.org/10.18261/issn.2464-3076-2019-03-05

Haukeland, P. Kristensen-Lund, H. (2019). The vibrant kindergarten: A pedagogical-philosophical approach. Retrieved from: https://tidsskrift.dk/spf/index

Hedefalk, M., Almqvist, J., & Östman, L. (2014). Education for sustainable development in early childhood education: a review of the research literature. Environmental Education Research, 21(7), 975-990. doi:10.1080/13504622.2014.971716

Heggen, M. P. (2016). Education for Sustainable Development in Norway. In J. Siraj-Blatchford, C. Mogharreban & E. Park (Eds.), International Research on Education for Sustainable Development in Early Childhood (pp. 91-102). [Cham, Switzerland], Springer. Heggen, M. (2019). Children as eco-citizens? Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.5617/nordina.6186

Heggen, M., Sageidet, B. M., Goga, N., Grindheim, L., Bergan, V., Krempig, I., . . Lynngård, A. (2019). Children as eco-citizens? Nordic Studies in Science Education, 15. doi:10.5617/nordina.6186

Hope, K. G., Schachter, R. E., & Wasik, B. A. (2013). Using the Scientific Method to Guide Learning: An Integrated Approach to Early Childhood Curriculum. Early Childhood Education Journal, 41, 315-323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-013-0579-4

Hollins, E.A. (2008) Culture in School learning, 2nd edn. First puplished in 1996. New York: Routledge.

Holstad, G.(2020). In the autumn, "everything" will be about sustainability at this school. Retrieved from: https://www.adressa.no/nyheter/trondheim/2020/02/04/Til-h%C3%B8sten-skal-%C2%ABalt%C2%BB-handle-om-b%C3%A6rekraft-p%C3%A5-denne-skolen-20899713.ece

Hovdelien, O. (2013). A values base for the Norwegian kindergarten: Common ground across cultural affiliations? Journal of Morald Education, 42(1), 102–13. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03057240.2012.752722.

Hsieh, H.-F., & Shannon, S. (2005). Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. Qualitative health research, 15, 1277-1288. doi:10.1177/1049732305276687

IPCC. (2014): Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp

IUCN. (1971). Commission on Education: Report on Objectives, Actions, Organisations and Structures Working Programme, Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.

Johansson, E. (2001). Morality in childrens worlds – rationality of thought or values emanating from relations? Studies in philosophy and Education. An international Quaterly, 20(4): 345-58.

Johansson, E. (2009) "The preschool child of today – the world citizen of tomorrow?" in E.

Johnsen, A.B (2018). Jens Stoltenberg om barneskoletiden: - Jeg kunne ikke lese eller skrive. (Jens Stoltenberg about primary school: I could not read or write.) Retrieved from: https://www.vg.no/nyheter/innenriks/i/m69OVv/jens-stoltenberg-om-barneskoletiden-jeg-kunne-ikke-lese-eller-skrive

Kaiser, F. G., Ranney, M., Hartig, T., & Bowler, P. A. (1999). Ecological behavior, environmental attitude, and feelings of responsibility for the environment. European Psychologist, 4(2), 59-74).

Kaiser, F. G., & Shimoda, T. A. (1999). Responsibility as a predictor of pro-environmental behavior. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 19, 243-253

Kavanaugh, K., & Ayres, L. (1998). "Not as bad as it could have been": Assessing and mitigating harm during research interviews on sensitive topics. Research in Nursing & Health, 21, 91 - 97.

Kjensli, R. Rise-Knutsen, M. Thorjussen, F. (2018). Local framework for Waldorf kindergartens in Norway. Retrieved from: https://steinerbarnehagene.no/lokal-rammeplan-for-steinerbarnehagene

Kolb, D.A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs NJ.

Kolb, S. (2012). Grounded theory and the constant comparative method: Valid research strategies for educators. Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies, 3, 83-86.

Kondracki, N. L., & Wellman, N. S. (2002). Content analysis: Review of methods and their applications in nutrition education. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 34, 224-230.

Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press, 138 p.

Liebendörfer, Ö. (Ed) (1997). En introduktion i Waldorfpedagogik [An Introduction to Waldorf Pedagogy]. Stockholm, Sweden: Waldorf Förlag

Liefländer, A. K., Fröhlich, G., Bogner, F., & Schultz, P. (2013). Promoting connectedness with nature through environmental education. Environmental Education Research, 19, 370–384. doi:10.1080/13504622.2012.697545

Loebell, P. (2017). Lernen im context der Waldorfpadagogik(Learning in the context of Waldorf pedagogy). Lehrerrundbrief,106,31-45

Long, A. F. and Godfrey, M. (2004) 'An evaluation tool to assess the quality of qualitative research studies', Int. J. Social Research Methodology, 7, 2, 181-96.

Lyngsnes, Kitt og Rismark, Marit. (2014). Didaktisk arbeid(didactic work). Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk.

Lysklett, O. B. (2013). Out all week: Nature and outdoor kindergarten. Oslo: University Publisher.

McAbee,S. Landis,S,R, Maura,B.I. (2017). Inductive reasoning: The promise of big data. Retrieved from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.08.005

Midttun, Atle & Olsson, Lennart (2012). «Den nordiske modellen» og økologi: Høy retorikk og middelmådig praksis. Plan, 6, s. 18–21

Ministries. (2004). Action plan for physical activity in Norway 2005–2009: Compared to physical activity. Oslo: Author.

Ministry of Children and Family. (1995). Framework for kindergarten. Q-0903 B.Oslo: Akademika As.

Ministry of Education and Research. (2006). Rammeplan for barnehagens innhold of oppgaver(Framework plan for the content and tasks of kindergartens). Retrieved from: www.regieringen.no/upload/kilde/kd/reg/2006/0001/ddd/pdfv/282023-rammeplan.pdf

Ministry Of Education. (2013). Competence for the kindergarten of the future. Strategy for competence and recruitment 2014–2020. Retrieved from: http://www.regjeringen.no/upload/KD/Vedlegg/Barnehager/kom-petansestrategien/6372-Barnehage.pdf

Ministry of Education (2016). Time for play and learning. Better content in the kindergarten (Meld. St. 19). Oslo: Ministry of Education. https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-st.-19-20152016/id2479078/.

Ministry of Education (Udir). (2017). Rammeplan for barnehagen (Framework for kindergarten). Retrieved from: https://www.udir.no/laring-og-trivsel/rammeplan/

Ministry of Education (Udir). (2017). Bærekraftig utvikling(Sustainable Development). Retrieved from: https://www.udir.no/laring-og-trivsel/rammeplan/verdigrunnlag/barekraftig-utvikling/

Ministry of Education (Udir). (2020). Financing of kindergartens. Retrieved from: https://www.regjeringen.no/no/tema/familie-og-barn/barnehager/innsikt/finansiering-avbarnehager/id2344788/

Mjaavatn, P. E., & Fjørtoft, I. (2008). Children and physical activity—with emphasis on the age 0–16 years. Oslo: Fladby Grafisk AS.

Montada, L., & Kals, E. (2000). Political implications of psychological research on ecological justice and pro-environmental behavior. International Journal of Psychology, 35(2), 168-176.

Nguyen, N T. Lobo, A. Greenland, S. (2016). Pro-environmental purchase behaviour: The role of consumers biospheric values. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.08.010

Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., & Murphy, S. A. (2009). The nature relatedness scale: Linking

individuals' connection with nature to environmental concern and behavior. Environment and Behavior, 41(5), 715–740.

Nordic Council of Ministers. (2009). Sustainable Development – New Bearings for the Nordic Region. Revised edition with goals and priorities 2009-2010. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.

Norwegian Government. (2020). Klimaendringer og norsk klimapolitikk(ENGELSK). Retrieved from: https://www.regjeringen.no/no/tema/klima-og-miljo/innsiktsartikler-klima-miljo/klimaendringer-og-norsk-klimapolitikk/id2636812/

Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research. (2011). Framework plan for the content and tasks of kindergartens. No. 51. Oslo: Author.

Novick G. (2008). Is there a bias against telephone interviews in qualitative research? Research in nursing & health, 31(4), 391–398. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20259

N, V.Lamekhova.(2020). The role of ecological and environmental approach in shaping the architectural environment for preschool education. Retrieved from: https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1757-899X/962/3/032090

Næss, A .(1973). "The shallow and the deep,long-range ecology movement. A summary". Inquiry,16(1):95-100

Næss, A. (2005) "Deep ecology of wisdom", in Glasser, G. and Drengson, A. (eds) The selected Works of Arne Næss. Volume 10, Dordrecht: Springer, p. 688.

O'Donnell, M. (2013). Maria Montessori. A Critical Introduction to Key Themes and Debates. London: Bloomsbury.

OMEP. (2014). Annual report. Retrieved fromhttp://www.worldomep.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Annual-Report-2013-EN-Sept-revised.pdf.

Pacis, M. and VanWynsberghe, R. (2020), "Key sustainability competencies for education for sustainability: Creating a living, learning and adaptive tool for widespread use", International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education, Vol. 21 No. 3, pp. 575-592. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-12-2018-0234

Paananen, M., Kumpulainen, K. & Lipponen, L. (2015). Quality drift within a narrative of investment in early childhood education. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 23(5), 690–705. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293x.2015.1104043.

Perez-Ferra,M. Quijano-Lopez,R. Garcia-Martinez,I.(2020). Impact of educational habits on the learning of 3-6-year-old children from the perspective of early childhood education teachers. Retrieved from: doi:10.3390/su12114388

Pierre ST, A.E. Jackson, Y.A. (2014). Qualitative Data Analysis After Coding. Retrieved from: DOI: 10.1177/1077800414532435

Rawson, M. (2018), Life Processes and Learning in Waldorf Pedagogy. Retrieved from: https://www.waldorflibrary.org/images/stories/Journal_Articles/rb23_2rawson.pdf

Repstad, Pål (2007): Mellom nærhet og distanse. Kvalitative metoder i samfunnsfag(Qualitative methods in social science). Oslo: Universitetsforlag

Riege, M, A. (2003). Validity and reliability tests in case study research: a literature review with "hands-on" applications for each research phase. Retrieved from: doi:10.1108/13522750310470055

Rikner, A. Ozolins, A, (2010). Waldorf Teachers and Environmental Issues-Behaviour, Values, Attitudes and Feelings of Responsibility. Retrieved from: https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:321918/FULLTEXT01.pdf

Ritchie, H and Roser, M. (2017). CO₂ and Greenhouse Gas Emissions". Published online at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved from: 'https://ourworldindata.org/co2-and-other-greenhouse-gasemissions'

Robottom, I. M. (1987). Two paradigms of professional development in environmental education. Environmentalist, 7(4), 291-298. doi:10.1007/BF02240218

Roller, M. R., & Lavrakas, P. J. (2015). Applied qualitative research design: A total quality framework approach. Guilford Publications.

Rosengren, K. E. (1981). Advances in Scandinavia content analysis: An introduction. In K. E. Rosengren (Ed.), Advances in content analysis (pp. 9-19). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage

Roudgarmi, P. (2011). Qualitative research for environmental sciences: A review. Journal of Food, Agriculture and Environment, 9, 871-879.

Sageidet, B.M. (2014). Norwegian perspectives on ECEfS: What has developed since the Brundtland report? 112-124.

Sageidet, B.M. (2015). Bærekraftig utvikling I barnehagen – bakgrunn og perspektiver(Sustainable development In kindergarten - background and perspectives). Norsk pedagogisk tidsskrift. Idunn.no. 110-123

Sageidet, B.M. (2016). Norwegian early childhood teachers' stated use of subject-related activities with children, and their focus on science, technology, environmental issues and sustainability. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.5617/nordina.955

Sageidet, B.M. (2019). 'World Environmental Education Congresses' og naturfagenes rolle innen utdanning for bærekraftig utvikling. Special Issue. Sageidet, B.M., Turmo, A. & Rundgren, C.J.A. (Eds.), Sustainability and science education in early childhood. NorDiNa, 15(4), 342-357.

Sageidet, B.M. Christensen, M. Davis, M.J. (2019). Childrens understanding of environmental and sustainability related issues in kindergartens in Rogaland, Norway, and Queensland, Australia. International journal of environmental & Science education, Vol 14, No 4, 191-205

Sahin, E. Alici, S. (2019) An associational study on pre-service early childhood teachers' nature relatedness in education for sustainability, International Research in Geographical and Environmental Education, 28:4, 343-357, DOI: 10.1080/10382046.2019.1651040

Sandseter, E. B. H. (2010). Scaryfunny: A qualitative study of risky play among preschool children. (Doctoral thesis, Norges teknisk-naturvitenskapelige universitet, Trondheim).

Schreiner, C. (2006) Exploring a ROSE-garden: Norwegian youth's orientations towards science-seen as signs of late modern identities. Doctoral thesis, University of Oslo

Schultz, P. (2002). Inclusion with nature: the psychology of human-nature relations. Chapter 4. Retrieved from: DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-0995-0_4

Schultz, P. Tabanico, J. (2007). Self, identity and the natural environment: exploring implicit connections with Nature. Retrieved from: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2007. 00210.x

Soga, M., & Gaston, K. (2016). Extinction of experience: The loss of human-nature interactions. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 14, 94-101. doi:10.1002/fee.1225

Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., Lewis, J. and Dillon, L. (2003) Quality in Qualitative Evaluation: A framework for assessing research evidence, London: Cabinet Office.

Spiteri J. (2018) Why We Should Start Early with ESD for Lifelong Learning. In: Leal Filho W., Mifsud M., Pace P. (eds) Handbook of Lifelong Learning for Sustainable Development. World Sustainability Series. Springer, Cham

Steg, L. Bolderdijk, W.J. Keizer, K. Perlaviciute, G. (2014). An integrated framework for encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: The role of values, situational factors and goals. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2014.01.002

Steinerfederation. (2017). Steinerkindergarten nr 1. Spring 2017. Retrieved from: https://steinerbarnehagene.no/steinerbarnehagen

Steinerfederation. (2021). Steiner Kindergartens and schools in Norway. Retrieved from: https://steinerbarnehagene.no/multimap/1/44/styleGrey

Steinerfederation. (2021). Our important working areas. Retrieved from: ://steinerbarnehagene.no/vare-viktigste-arbeidsomrader

Steiner, R. (1924). The Kingdom of Childhood: Seven Lectures and Answers to Questions [online]. http://wn.rsarchive.org/Lectures/GA311/English/AP1982/KinChi_index.html.

Steinerskolen. (2021). Grønn skole(Green school). Retrieved from: https://www.steinerskole.no/pedagogikk/gronn-skole/

Stern, P. C. (2000). Toward a coherent theory of environmentally significant behavior. Journal of Social Issues, 56(3), 407-424.

Stern, P. C., & Dietz, T. (1994). The value basis of environmental concern. Journal of Social Issues, 50, 65-84.

Stern, P. C., Dietz, T., & Guagnano, G. A. (1995). The new ecological paradigm in social-psychological context. Environment and Behavior, 27, 723-743

Stevenson, B. R. (2007). Schooling and environmental education: contradictions in purpose and practice. Environmental Education Research, 13 (2), 139-153

Stuckey HL. The second step in data analysis: Coding qualitative research data. J Soc Health Diabetes 2015; 3:7-10.

Sturges, J.E., & Hanrahan, K.J. (2004). Comparing telephone and face-to-face qualitative interviewing: A research note. Qualitative Research, 4, 107 - 118.

Sweet, L. (2002). Telephone interviewing: Is it compatible with interpretive phenomenological research? Contemporary Nurse, 12, 58 - 63.

The Directorate of Education. (2017). Framework plan for the kindergarten. Content and tasks. Oslo: Directorate of Education.

The kindergarten act (NO),2010, Purpous of the act. Chapter 1 and 7. Retrieved from: https://lovdata.no/lov/2005-06-17-64/§1

Thornton, P.H., Ocasio, W. & Lounsbury, M. (2012). The institutional logics perspective. A new approach to culture, structure, and process. Oxford: Oxford University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3917/mana.155.0583.

Türkoglu, B, B. (2019). Opinions of Preschool Teachers and Pre-Service Teachers on Environmental Education and Environmental Awareness for Sustainable Development in the Preschool Period. Retrieved from: doi:10.3390/su11184925

UNESCO. (1975). The Belgrade Charter: A Global Framework for Environmental Education.

UNESCO. (1977). The Tbilisi Declaration. Intergovernmental Conference on Environmental Education. 14–26 October 1977. UNESCO, Paris

UNESCO. (1994). International Environmental Education Programme. Procedures for Developing an Environmental Education Curriculum (revised). U.S.A: UNESCO-UNEP

UNESCO. (2005). United Nations Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (2005–2014): International Implementation Scheme. Paris: UNESCO

UNESCO. (2008). The Contribution of Early Childhood Education to a Sustainable Society (I. P. Samuelsson& Y. Kaga, Eds.). Paris: UNESCO

UNESCO. (2017). Education for Sustainable Development Goals: learning objectives. Paris, France: United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Organization

UNESCO. (2021). Education for sustainable development. Retrieved from: https://en.unesco.org/themes/education-sustainable-development

UNICEF. (2013). Sustainable development starts and ends with safe, healthy and well-educated children. Retrieved from http://www.unicef.org/socialpolicy/files/Sustainable Development post 2015.pdf.

United Nations (1972). Report of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment Stockholm. Retrieved from: https://www.un.org/en/conferences/environment/stockholm1972

United Nations. (1992). Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED). Promoting Education, Public Awareness and Training. Retrieved from: http://un-documents.net/a21-36.htm

United Nations. (2005). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 16 September 2005. 2005 World Summit Outcome. Retrieved from:

 $\underline{https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/general assembly/docs/global compact/A_RES_60_1.pdf}$

United Nations. (2015). Integrating the three dimensions of sustainable development: A framework and tool. United Nations.

United Nations. (2020). Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all. Retrieved from: https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal4

Vannebo, B.I. & Gotvassli, K.-Å. (2018). Quality reform in the early childhood education and care sector in Norway. I P.T. Granrusten, K.-Å. Gotvassli, O.F. Lillemyr & K.H. Moen (red.), Leadership for Learning. The New Challenge in Early Childhood Education and Care (s. 215–

38). Charlotte: Information Age Publishing.

Van der Werff, E. Steg, L., Keizer, K. (2013). I am what I am by looking past the present: The influence of biospheric values and past behaviour on environmental self-identity. Retrieved from: DOI: 10.1177/0013916512475209

Vare, P., & Scott, W. (2007). Learning for a Change: Exploring the Relationship Between Education and Sustainable Development. Journal of Education for Sustainable Development, 1(2), 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1177/097340820700100209

Vygotzky, L. S. (1986). Thought and Language. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Weldemariam, K. T., Boyd, D., Hirst, N., Sageidet, B. M., Browder, J. K., Grogan, L., & Hughes, F. (2017). A Critical Analysis of Concepts Associated with Sustainability in Early Childhood Curriculum Frameworks across Five National contexts. International Journal of Early Childhood, 49, 333-351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13158-017-0202-

WCED. (1987). Our common future. A report from the United Nations World Commission on Environment and Development. Retrieved from:

 $https://www.are.admin.ch/are/en/home/sustainable-development/international-cooperation/2030agenda/un-_-milestones-in-sustainable-development/1987--brundtland-report.html\\$

Wilson, E. (1984). Biophilia. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Yeshalem, A. D. (2013). Environmental Education about, in and for the Environment: The case of two secondary schools in Ethiopia.

Young, M. E. (Ed.). (2002). From early child development to human development: Investing in our children's future. World Bank Publications

Appendix: Interview guide

- 1) How long have you worked in kindergarten? Which age group have you worked the most with?
- 2) What is your understanding of sustainable development? Do you personally feel you can make a difference for the environment? Examples?
- 3) In your education, where there a focus on sustainable development?
- 4) What is essential for the children when they are outdoor playing? Examples?
- 5) What relationship do the children have to nature and the environment locally and globally? (children from 2-6)
- 6) Do you teach the children about sustainability (taking care of the environment/sustainable methods)? Examples?
- 7) What are the biggest challenges concerning practicing sustainable development in kindergarten? Examples?
- 8) What supplies does the kindergarten use to facilitate a sustainable everyday life?
- 9) Should employees in the kindergarten receive a formal education/course in environmental education?
- 10) What values and norms do you have in kindergarten related to the 17 sustainability goals?
- 11) Do you use the framework plan or the 17 sustainability goals consciously in your pedagogical work with children about sustainable development, and if you do, how?

ork with children with sustainable development, and if you do, how?	

12) For Waldorf educators. Do you use Waldorf pedagogy consciously in your pedagogical